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The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and 

The Civil Service Association of Western Australia 
 
 
 

Annual General Meeting 
 

Wednesday, 28th September 2022 at 4:00pm 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 
 
1. Apologies & Attendance 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The apologies and observers be accepted.” 

 
 
 
2. Minutes of Previous Annual General Meetings - 29th September 2021 
 

2.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and Civil Service Association 
of Western Australia (Inc) 

 
Proposed Resolution 
“The minutes of the Annual General Meeting of 29th September 2021 be accepted as a true and correct 
record.” 

 
 
3. Financial Reports 2021/2022 
 

3.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch General Purpose Financial 
Report 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch General Purpose Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 
2022 be adopted.” 

 
 

3.2 Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc)  
 
Proposed Resolution 
“The Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) and its controlled entities Special Purpose 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2022 be adopted.” 
 
 



 

 
4. CPSU/CSA Annual Report of Activities 
 

4.1 Council’s Annual Report 2021/2022 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The CPSU/CSA Branch Council’s Annual Report 2021-2022 be adopted.” 

 
 
5. Report of Branch Officer Movement 
 

5.1 CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch 2021/2022 
 
 
The report for noting  

 
 
6. General Business 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

The CPSU, Community and Public Sector Union, SPSF Group, WA Branch and 
The Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) 

 
 
 

Annual General Meetings 
 

Wednesday 29th September 2021 at 4:00pm 
6th floor, 445 Hay Street, Perth 

 
 

The President advised that there was a CPSU/CSA quorum present and opened the meeting at 
4:08pm.  The Chair opened the meeting by acknowledging the Whadjuk people, the traditional 
owners of the land on which the meeting was being held. 
 

1. APOLOGIES & ATTENDANCE 
 
ATTENDANCE 
Matthew Abrahamson (President & Chair), Rikki Hendon (Branch Secretary), Melanie Bray (Branch 
Assistant Secretary) 
Quorum present 
 
OBSERVERS 
Martin Shone, Auditor, AMW 
 
C01/21 “The apologies and observes be accepted.” 

Moved Sandra Nelson: 
Seconded: Rod Schoneveld 

CARRIED 
 

2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Minutes of Previous Annual General Meetings - 30th September 2020 

 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and Civil Service 
Association of Western Australia Incorporated. 
 

C02/21 “The minutes of the Annual General Meeting of 30th September 2021 be accepted as a 
true and correct record.” 
Moved Denise Henden 
Seconded: Deb Stackpole 

CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. FINANCIAL REPORTS 2020/2021 



3.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch  
 

The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon spoke to the financial reports and provided rationale for 
the two sets of financial statements due to the two entities being registered organisations.   

 
C03/21 “The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch Financial Report for 

the year ended 30 June 2021 be adopted.” 
Moved Ursula Konig 
Seconded: Becky Anderson 

CARRIED 
 

 

3.2 Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) 
 
 
C04/21 “The Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) and its controlled entities 

Special Purpose Report for the year ended 30 June 2021 be adopted.” 
Moved Jeremy Mowe 
Seconded: Leanne Brown 

CARRIED 
 

4. ANNUAL REPORT OF ACTIVITIES 
4.1 Council’s Annual Report 2020/2021 
 

The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon presented the Annual Report for 2020-21 
 
Discussion ensued. 

 
C05/21 “The CPSU/CSA Branch Council’s Annual Report 2020-2021 be adopted.” 

Moved Rod Schoneveld 
Seconded: Denise Henden 

CARRIED 
 

5. REPORT AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS OR COUNCILLORS 
5.1 CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch 2020/2021 

 
The report for noting.  

NOTED 
 

6. Appointment of Auditors (Civil Service Association) 
6.1 Appointment of Auditors  

 
The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon noted the requirement of the in accordance with the 
Civil Association Rules that the AGM appointments the auditors. 
 

C06/21 “The CSA Annual General Meeting of members recommends that Walker Wayland be 
appointed to prepare the Civil Service Association of WA (Inc) annual statutory financial 
reports for years ending 30th June 2022 and 30th June 2023.” 
Moved Grant Sutherland 
Seconded: John Lamb 



CARRIED 
 
7. LIFE MEMBERSHIPS 
7.1 Life Membership for Brian Dodds and Bruce Hawkins 
 

The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon spoke Brian Dodds and Bruce Hawkins contribution of 
service the CPSU/CSA noting many years of service and duties as office holders on Branch 
Council and Executive Committee. 

 
C07/21 “Brian Dodds and Bruce Hawkins be awarded a Life Membership into the Civil Services 

Association.” 
Moved Denise Henden  
Seconded: Rikki Hendon 

CARRIED 
 
8. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
 
 
There being no further business, the Chair declared the meeting closed at 4:30pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch Secretary  CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch President 
CSA General Secretary    CSA President 
Date:        Date:  
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OPERATING REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 
In accordance with section 254 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009 (“Act”) the 
Branch Committee of Management present their report on the Community and Public Sector 
Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch (“the Branch”) for the financial year 30 June 2022. 
 
 
Review of principal activities, the results of those activities and any significant changes 
in the nature of those activities during the year 
 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch [CPSU] and 
the Civil Service Association of WA [CSA], which is a Union registered under the WA Industrial 
Relations Act 1979, effectively operate as one unit.  Pursuant to the “CPSU and signatory bodies 
deed” [the deed] the CPSU and CSA have provided mutual covenants for cooperation.  The deed 
has been supplied in previous years’ financial disclosures. 
 
As previously advised the deed at clause 12, informs all dealings with the membership 
subscription fees of the CPSU and CSA.  The deed at clause 13, informs the provision of and 
payment for services between the CPSU and the CSA.  The deed at clause 14, provides for 
mutual covenants of cooperation between the CPSU and the CSA.  The deed at clause 15, 
concerns the assets of the CSA and some financial dealings between the CPSU and the CSA. 
 
This results in the CSA undertaking all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf of the 
CPSU.  The CPSU does not hold a bank account in its own name.  Any financial obligations 
incurred by the CPSU are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
A list of activities are:- 
 

• Represent the professional and industrial interests of our members 
• Promote and defend WA’s high quality public services system and higher education 
• Negotiate Enterprise Bargaining and Industrial Agreements for fair wages and conditions 
• Provide Union delegates and workplace leaders with training and education to enable 

them to better represent members in the workplace 
• Hold monthly committee of management and branch council meetings to ensure 

oversight and monitoring of operational and governance compliance  
 
 
Significant Changes in Financial Affairs 
 
No matters or circumstances arose during the reporting year which significantly affected the 
financial affairs of the Branch. 
 
 
Operating Results 
 
The Branch’s profit for the year amounted to $NIL (2021: $NIL). 
 
 
Right of Members to Resign 
 
Rule 58 of CPSU, the Community and Public Sector Chapter C SPSF Group Rules sets out the 
terms under which a member of the CPSU Branch may resign.   
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(a) A member may resign from membership of the Branch by notice in writing if; 
 

(i) The member ceases to be eligible to become a member of the Branch; or  
 

(ii) The member gives notice not less than two weeks before the resignation is to 
take effect.   

 
(b) The notice in writing of resignation shall be addressed to the Branch Secretary of the 

Branch of which the member resigning is a member or of which he or she has been 
attached. 

 
 
Officers & Employees who are superannuation fund trustee(s) or director of a company 
that is a superannuation fund trustee 
 
Nil 

 
 

Number of Members 
 
In accordance with Regulation 159(a) of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Regulations 
2009 [the Regulations] and s.254(2)(f) of the Act – the number of persons that were at the end 
of the financial year recorded in the register of members and who are taken to be members of 
the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch was 11,456. 
 
 
Number of Employees 
 
In accordance with Regulation 159(b) of the regulations and s.254(2)(f) of the Act– the number 
of persons who were at the end of the financial year employees of the CPSU Branch, including 
both full-time and part-time employees measured on a full-time equivalent basis were as 70. 
 
As previously advised to Fair Work Commission, the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group WA Branch and the Civil Service Association Pty Ltd operate on a dual employer basis.  
All employees are employees of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA 
Branch and the Civil Service Association Pty Ltd.  However, pursuant to the deed and for 
operating convenience, all employee related transactions are undertaken by the CSA for and on 
behalf of the CPSU Branch.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 
BRANCH 

ABN 16 836 420 693 

3  

Names of committee of management members and periods positions held during the 
financial year 
  
In accordance with Regulation 159(c) of the regulations and s.254(2)(f) of the Act– the names of 
the Committee of Management Members and period of positions held during the financial year 
were:-. 
 
As per Community and Public Sector SPSF Group WA Branch Rule 11, CPSU Branch Executive 
shall be the Committee of Management.  
 
Name Position  

Rikki Hendon Branch Secretary   

Melanie Bray Branch Assistant Secretary   
John Lamb Branch Treasurer  

Matthew Abrahamson Branch President  
Becky Anderson Branch Vice President  

Lewis Stevens Branch Vice President  

   
Denise Henden Executive Councillor  

Kurt Mayerhofer Executive Councillor  

Leanne Reid Executive Councillor  

Annette Bohm Executive Councillor  

Jeremy Mowe Executive Councillor  
Rod Schoneveld Executive Councillor  

Anette Bohm Executive Councillor  

   

Members have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch Executive 
Committee: 
 
 
 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:  8th     day of September 2022 
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CERTIFICATE OF PRESCRIBED DESIGNATED OFFICER 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 

 

I, Rikki Hendon, being the Branch Secretary of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group Western Australian Branch certify: 
 

• That the documents lodged herewith are copies of the full report for the Community and 
Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch for the year ended 30 June 
2022 referred to in s.268 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009; and 
 

• That the full report was provided to members of the Branch on xx September 2022; and 
 

• That the full report was presented to a meeting of the Committee of Management of the 
Branch on xx September 2022 in accordance with s.266 of the Fair Work (Registered 
Organisations) Act 2009. 

 

 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:     day of September 2022 
___________________ 

 

This certificate is only required to be lodged with the ROC 

The designated officer’s certificate must be completed, signed and dated by a 
prescribed designated officer after all the events within the financial reporting 
process have been completed. This will occur after the presentation of the full 
report to the relevant s.266 meeting (2nd meeting). 
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REPORT REQUIRED UNDER SUBSECTION 255(2A) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

The Committee of Management presents the expenditure report as required under subsection 
255(2A) on the Reporting Unit for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Categories of Expenditures 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Remuneration and other employment-related costs and expenses- 
employees 

- - 

Advertising 426 411 

Operating Costs 96,324 157,438 

Donations to political parties - - 

Legal costs - - 

 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:  8th   day of September 2022 
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COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 
 

On Wednesday, 7th  September 2022 the Committee of Management of Community and Public 
Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch (“the Branch”) passed the following 
resolution in relation to the general purpose financial report (GPFR) for the year ended 30 June 
2022:  

The Committee of Management declares that in its opinion:  

(a) the financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Accounting Standards; 

(b) the financial statements and notes comply with any other requirements imposed by the 
Reporting Guidelines or Part 3 of Chapter 8 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) 
Act 2009 (the RO Act);  

(c) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial performance, 
financial position and cash flows of the reporting unit for the financial year to which they 
relate;  

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the reporting unit will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable; and  

(e) during the financial year to which the GPFR relates and since the end of that year:  
(i) meetings of the committee of management were held in accordance with the rules 

of the organisation including the rules of a Branch concerned; and  
(ii) the financial affairs of the reporting unit have been managed in accordance with 

the rules of the organisation including the rules of a Branch concerned; and  

(iii) the financial records of the reporting unit have been kept and maintained in 
accordance with the RO Act; and  

(iv) where the organisation consists of two or more reporting units, the financial 
records of the reporting unit have been kept, as far as practicable, in a consistent 
manner with each of the other reporting units of the organisation; and  

(v) where information has been sought in any request by a member of the reporting 
unit or Commissioner duly made under section 272 of the RO Act has been 
provided to the member or Commissioner; and  

(vi) where any order for inspection of financial records has been made by the Fair 
Work Commission under section 273 of the RO Act, there has been compliance. 

(f) no revenue has been derived from undertaking recovery of wages activity during the 
reporting period. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee of Management. 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:  8th  day of September 2022 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 

   
Note 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Revenue    
 Membership Subscription  372,790 445,324 
 Capitation Fees 2A - - 
 Levies 2B - - 
 Grants or Donations 2C - - 
 Revenue from Recovery of Wages Activity 2D - - 
Total income  372,790 445,324 
     
Expenses    
 Employee Expenses 3A - - 
 Capitation Fees 3B (200,814) (209,413) 
 Affiliation Fees 3C (75,652) (78,062) 
 Administration Expenses 3D - - 
 Grants or Donations 3E (667) (100) 
 Legal Costs 3F - - 
 Other Expenses 3G (92,657) (154,749) 
 Audit Fees 10 (3,000) (3,000) 
Total expenses  (372,790) (445,324) 
     
Surplus for the year  - - 
     
Other comprehensive income  - - 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 
 

 Note 2022 2021 
ASSETS   $  $ 
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 - - 
Trade and Other Receivables 4 - - 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  - - 
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  - - 
TOTAL ASSETS  - - 
 
LIABILITIES 

 
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and Other Payables 5 - - 
Employee Provisions 6A - - 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  - - 
    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Employee Provisions 6A - - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  - - 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  - - 
NET ASSETS  - - 
 
EQUITY 

 
  

Retained Earnings  - - 
TOTAL EQUITY  - - 
    
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

    Retained 
Earnings 

Total 

    $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2020    - - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year    - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2021    - - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year    - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2022    - - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
  2022 2021 
   $   $  
 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash received     
 Receipt from members   - - 
 Donations and grants  - - 
 Receipts from other reporting unit/controlled entity(s)  - - 
 Interest  - - 
 Cash used    
 Transfers from CPSU of WA   - - 
 Payment to national office  - - 
 Payment to suppliers  - - 
 Payment to other reporting units/controlled entity(s)  - - 
 Cash Generated from Operating Activities  8A - - 
    
 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash Used in Investing Activities   - - 
    
 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash Used in Financing Activities   - - 
    
Net increase (decrease) in cash held - - 
Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  - - 
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the year 4A - - 
    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
1.1 Basis of preparation of the financial statements 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board that apply for the reporting period and the Fair Work (Registered 
Organisation) Act 2009. For the purpose of preparing the general-purpose financial statements, 
the Branch is a not-for-profit entity. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and in accordance with the 
historical cost. Historical cost is generally based on the fair values of the consideration given in 
exchange for assets. Except where stated, no allowance is made for the effect of changing 
prices on the results or the financial position.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 
 
1.2 Nature of the Branch operations 

 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the Civil Service 
Association of Western Australia Incorporated (“CSA”), which is a Union of employees 
registered under the WA Industrial Relations Act 1979, effectively operate as one unit.  Pursuant 
to the “CPSU and signatory bodies deed” [the deed] the Community and Public Sector Union 
SPSF Group WA Branch and CSA have provided mutual covenants for cooperation [see clause 
14 deed].  Please note the deed has been supplied in previous year’s financial reports 
The deed at clause 12, informs all dealings with the membership subscription fees of the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and CSA 
 
The deed at clause 13, informs the provision of and payment for services between the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA. 

The deed at clause 14, provides for mutual covenants of cooperation between the Community 
and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA. 

The deed at clause 15, concerns the assets of the CSA and financial dealings between the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA. 
 
This results in the CSA undertaking all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf of the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch.  The Community and Public 
Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch does not hold a bank account in its own name.  All 
financial obligations incurred by the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA 
Branch are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
In consequence, Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch revenue and 
expenses are recorded in compliance with the deed.  This is effectively a bookkeeping exercise 
given the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch holds no bank account 
to receive or disburse monies. Further, the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group 
WA Branch holds no other tangible assets in its own name. 
 
A proportion of the membership subscriptions of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group WA Branch and the CSA is allocated as income for the Community and Public Sector 
Union SPSF Group WA Branch.  This is undertaken as per the requirements of the deed. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.3 Comparative amounts 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 
to changes in presentation for the current financial year. 
 
1.4 Adoption of New Australian Accounting Standard Requirements 
No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than the application date stated in the 
standard. 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. 
 
1.5 AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 

 
1.5.1 2020-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classifications of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and AASB 2020-6: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral 
of Effective Date  

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities 
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current. 

For example, the amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity 
has the right at the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. The meaning of settlement of a liability is also clarified. 

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Branch. 
 
1.5.2 AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 

Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

This Standard amends a number of standards as follows: 
• AASB 3: Business Combinations to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework 

for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business 
combinations; 

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing 
whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different 
from the terms of the original financial liability; 

• AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment to require an entity to recognise the sales 
proceeds from selling items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment 
for its intended use and the related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the 
amounts received from the cost of the asset; 

• AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets to specify the 
costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making; 
and 

Effective for Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Branch. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.5     AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 (Continued) 

 
1.5.3 AASB 2021-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates (amends AASB 7, 
AASB 101, AASB 108 & AASB Practice Statement 2) 
This Standard amends a number of standards as follows: 
• AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures to clarify that information about 

measurement bases for financial instruments is expected to be material to an entity’s 
financial statements; 

• AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements to require entities to disclose their 
material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies; 

• AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to 
clarify how entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies and changes in 
accounting estimates; 

• AASB Practice Statement 2, to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of 
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. 

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
No impact on reported financial performance or position and the amendments would leads 
to reductions in quantum of accounting policies disclosures to focus on key decision areas 
and material policies only. 

1.5.4 AASB 2021-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transactions (AASB 1 and 
AASB 112) 
This Standard amends AASB 112 to clarify the accounting for deferred tax on 
transactions that, at the time of the transaction, give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. In specified circumstances, entities are exempt from recognising 
deferred tax when they recognise assets or liabilities for the first time. The amendments 
clarify that the exemption does not apply to transactions for which entities recognise both 
an asset and a liability and that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. This may be the case for transactions such as leases and decommissioning, 
restoration and similar obligations. Entities are required to recognise deferred tax on such 
transactions. 
In addition, AASB 2021-5 amends AASB 1 to require deferred tax related to leases and 
decommissioning,  restoration and similar obligations to be recognised by first-time 
adopters at the date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards, despite the 
exemption set out in AASB 112. 
 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the branch. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.5     AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 (Continued) 

 
1.5.5 AASB 2022-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Illustrative 

Examples for Not-for-Profit Entities accompanying AASB 15 

This Standard provides an example 7A under IE4A to illustrate the accounting for upfront 
fee received by an organisation as per AASB 15. Upfront fee may include enrolment fee 
collected by schools, membership fee/joining fee of clubs, establishment fee etc., collected 
at the inception of an agreement. This example essentially demonstrates how an entity 
should apply the provisions in AASB 15.B48-B51 regarding accounting for a non-
refundable upfront fee collected from customer. Additionally, it specifies that the upfront 
fee that does not represent separate performance obligation (i.e., it only relates to 
administrative or set up activities performed for a future service to be provided) has to be 
regarded as an advance payment towards such future services. Hence they are recognised 
as and when revenue is recognised in relation to such future services as per AASB 15. 
The Standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the branch. 

 
1.6 Acquisition of assets and or liabilities that do not constitute a business combination 

 
The Branch did not acquire an asset or liability due to an amalgamation under Part 2 of 
Chapter 3 of the RO Act, a restructure of the branches of the organisation, a 
determination by the General Manager of the Fair Work Commission under subsection 
245(1) or 249(1) of the RO Act. 

 
1.7 Current versus non-current classification   

 
The Branch presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based 
on current/non-current classification.  

   
An asset is current when it is:  
 
• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating 

cycle; 
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or  
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.  
  

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.7    Current versus non-current classification (Continued)  
 
A liability is current when:  
 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;  
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or  
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period. 
  

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its 
settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.  

 The Branch classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 

1.8  Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
 Where the Branch has a contract with a customer, the Branch recognises revenue when 
or as it transfers control of goods or services to the customer. The Branch accounts for an 
arrangement as a contract with a customer if the following criteria are met: 
• the arrangement is enforceable; and 
• the arrangement contains promises (that are also known as performance obligations) to 
transfer goods or services to the customer (or to other parties on behalf of the customer) 
that are sufficiently specific so that it can be determined when the performance obligation 
has been satisfied. 
 
 Membership subscriptions 
 
 For membership subscription arrangements that meet the criteria to be contracts with 
customers, revenue is recognised when the promised goods or services transfer to the 
customer as a member of the Branch.    
 
 If there is only one distinct membership service promised in the arrangement, the Branch 
recognises revenue as the membership service is provided, which is typically based on the 
passage of time over the subscription period to reflect the Branch’s promise to stand ready 
to provide assistance and support to the member as required. 
 
If there is more than one distinct good or service promised in the membership subscription, 
the Branch allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the 
relative standalone selling prices of each promised good or service. In performing this 
allocation, standalone selling prices are estimated if there is no observable evidence of the 
price that the Branch charges for that good or service in a standalone sale. When a 
performance obligation is satisfied, which is either when the customer obtains control of the 
good (for example, books or clothing) or as the service transfers to the customer (for 
example, member services or training course), the Branch recognises revenue at the 
amount of the transaction price that was allocated to that performance obligation.   
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.8  Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) 
 
For member subscriptions paid annually in advance, the Branch has elected to apply the 
practical expedient to not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant financing 
component because the period from when the customer pays and the good or services will 
transfer to the customer will be one year or less.   
 
When a member subsequently purchases additional goods or services from the Branch at 
their standalone selling price, the Branch accounts for those sales as a separate contract 
with a customer.   
 
 Capitation fees 
 
 Where the Branch’s arrangement with a branch or another reporting unit meets the criteria 
to be a contract with a customer, the Branch recognises the capitation fees promised under 
that arrangement when or as it transfers the funds.   
 
In circumstances where the criteria for a contract with a customer are not met, the Branch 
will recognise capitation fees as income upon receipt (as specified in the income 
recognition policy below). 

 
Levies 
 
 Levies paid by a member (or other party) in an arrangement that meets the criteria to be a 
contract with a customer is recognised as revenue when or as the Branch transfers the 
funds. 
 
 In circumstances where the criteria for a contract with a customer are not met, the Branch 
will recognise levies as income upon receipt (as specified in the income recognition policy 
below). 
 
 Volunteer services 
 
In circumstances where the fair value of the volunteer services can be measured reliably, 
the Branch recognises the fair value of volunteer services received as income together with 
a corresponding expense where the economic benefits of the volunteer services are 
consumed as the services are acquired. Where the volunteer services will contribute to the 
development of an asset, the fair value is included in the carrying amount of that asset. 
 
 During the year, the Branch did not recognise any volunteer services as revenue because 
it could not reliably measure the fair value of those services. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.8  Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) 
 
  Income of the Branch as a Not-for-Profit Entity 
  
Consideration is received by the Branch to enable the entity to further its objectives. The 
Branch recognises each of these amounts of consideration as income when the 
consideration is received (which is when the Branch obtains control of the cash) because, 
based on the rights and obligations in each arrangement: 
 
 • the arrangements do not meet the criteria to be contracts with customers because either 
the arrangement is unenforceable or lacks sufficiently specific promises to transfer goods 
or services to the customer; and 
• the Branch’s recognition of the cash contribution does not give to any related liabilities.    
 Cash consideration received by the Branch will be recognised as income upon receipt. 

 
 Income recognised from transfers to acquire or construct a non-financial asset 
 
 Where, as part of an enforceable agreement, the Branch receives consideration to acquire 
or construct a non-financial asset such as property, plant and equipment to an identified 
specification and for the Branch’s own use, a liability is recognised for the obligation to 
acquire or construct the asset. Income is recognised as the obligation to acquire or 
construct the asset is satisfied, which is typically over time. The asset that is being acquired 
or constructed is recognised in accordance with the policy on property, plant and 
equipment. 
 
 Gains from sale of assets 
 
 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal (which is at the 
date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

 
 Interest income 
  
Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 
 
 Rental income 
  
Leases in which the Branch as a lessor, does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental 
income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis 
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they 
are earned. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
  

1.9 Employee benefits 
 
 A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave, long service leave and termination benefits when it is probable that 
settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 
 
 Liabilities for short-term employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) 
and termination benefits due within twelve months of the end of reporting period are 
measured at their nominal amounts. The nominal amount is calculated with regard to the 
rates expected to be paid on settlement of the liability. 
 
 Other long-term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the Branch in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 
 
 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense 
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 
 
 The Branch recognises an obligation to provision for termination when it has developed a 
detailed formal plan for the terminations and has informed those employees affected that it 
will carry out the terminations as per the requirements of the relevant industrial conditions 
or obligations set out by Fair Work Commission.  

 
1.10   Cash  

 
 Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with bank, other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturity of 3 months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
  

1.11 Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Branch becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 

1.11.1 Financial assets 
 

  Contract assets and receivables 
 
A contract asset is recognised when the Branch’s right to consideration in exchange 
goods or services that has transferred to the customer when that right is conditioned on 
the Branch’s future performance or some other condition. 
 
A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due 
from the customer (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the 
consideration is due). 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.11    Financial instruments (Continued) 
 

1.11.1 Financial assets (Continued) 
 
Contract assets and receivables are subject to impairment assessment. Refer to 
accounting policies on impairment of financial assets below. 

 
  Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), or fair value 
through profit or loss. 
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial 
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Branch’s business model for 
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component, the Branch initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, 
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of 
principal and interest’ (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is 
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
 
The Branch’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages 
its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines 
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial 
assets, or both. 
 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are 
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Branch commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in five 
categories: 
• (Other) financial assets at amortised cost 
• (Other) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
• Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
• (Other) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
• (Other) financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.11  Financial instruments (Continued) 

 
1.11.1 Financial assets (Continued) 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost  
The Branch measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 
 
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective 
interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.  
 
The Branch’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and loans to 
related parties. 

 
  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 

The Branch measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
conditions are met: 
 
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both 

holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling; and 
•       The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange 
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
 
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the 
cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss. 
 
The Branch’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI includes investments in quoted 
debt instruments included under other non-current financial assets. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.11  Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
1.11.1 Financial assets (Continued) 
 

Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
 
Upon initial recognition, the Branch can elect to classify irrevocably its equity 
investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income when they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends 
are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Branch benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part 
of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not 
subject to impairment assessment. 
 
The Branch elected to classify irrevocably its listed and non-listed equity investments 
under this category. 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (including designated) 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for 
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or 
loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, 
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments.  
 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the 
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described 
above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.11  Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
1.11.1 Financial assets (Continued) 

 
Derecognition 
 
A financial asset is derecognised when: 
  
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
• The Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either: 
 
a) the Branch has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or  
b) the Branch has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset. 
 
When the Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has 
retained the risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Branch continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement together with associated 
liability. 
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
Impairment  
 
Expected credit losses 
 
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30-day terms, are recognised at the 
nominal amounts due less any loss allowance due to expected credit losses at each 
reporting date. A provision matrix that is based on historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment has been established.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
1.11  Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
1.11.1 Financial assets (Continued) 

 
 (i) Trade receivables 
 
For trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component, the Branch 
applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses (ECLs) which requires 
lifetime expected credit losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.  
 
Therefore, the Branch does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Branch has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 
 
 (ii) Debt instruments other than trade receivables 
For all debt instruments other than trade receivables and debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss, the Branch recognises an allowance for expected credit losses 
using the general approach. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Branch 
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.  
 
 ECLs are recognised in two stages: 

• Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
ECLs are provided for credit losses from possible default events within the next 12-
months (a 12-month ECL).  

• Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
debt, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  

The Branch considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days 
past due. However, in certain cases, the Branch may also consider a financial asset to be 
in default when internal or external information indicates that the Branch is unlikely to 
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A financial asset is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.11  Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
1.11.2 Financial Liabilities 

 
 Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, at amortised cost unless or at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including designated)  
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 
 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are 
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments are satisfied. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
After initial recognition, trade payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR 
amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as 
finance costs in profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.   
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.12  Liabilities relating to contracts with customers 
 
Contract liabilities 
 
 A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is 
earlier) from a customer before the Branch transfers the related goods or services. Contract 
liabilities include deferred income. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the 
Branch performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services 
to the customer). 
  
Refund liabilities 
 A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration 
received (or receivable) from a customer. The Branch’s refund liabilities arise from 
customers’ right of return. The liability is measured at the amount the Branch ultimately 
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Branch updates its estimates of refund 
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each 
reporting period. 
  

1.13  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position but are reported in the relevant notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to the 
existence of a liability or asset or represent an existing liability or asset in respect of which 
the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets are disclosed when settlement 
is probable but not virtually certain, and contingent liabilities are disclosed when settlement 
is greater than remote. 
  

1.14  Land, buildings, plant and equipment 
 
 Asset recognition threshold 
 
 Purchases of land, buildings, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the cost 
of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. 
 
 Revaluations—Land and Buildings 
 
Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings are carried at fair value less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient frequency such that the carrying amount of 
assets do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values as at 
the reporting date. 
 
Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis. Any revaluation increment is credited 
to equity under the heading of asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that it reversed 
a previous revaluation decrement of the same asset class that was previously recognised 
in the surplus/deficit. Revaluation decrements for a class of assets are recognised directly 
in the profit or loss except to the extent that they reverse a previous revaluation increment 
for that class. Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the asset is restated to the revalued amount. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.14  Land, buildings, plant and equipment (Continued) 
 
 Depreciation 
 
 Depreciable property, plant and equipment assets are written-off to their estimated residual 
values over their estimated useful life using, in all cases, the straight line method of 
depreciation. Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and methods are reviewed 
at each reporting date and necessary adjustments are recognised in the current, or current 
and future reporting periods, as appropriate. 
  
 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
 Class of Fixed Asset  Depreciation Rate 
 Furniture and equipment  2% - 40% 
 Motor vehicles   18.75% 
 Buildings and improvement 1.5% - 11.25% 
 
 Derecognition 
 An item of land, buildings, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the profit and loss. 
 

1.15  Impairment for Non-Financial Assets 
 
 All assets are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period to the extent 
that there is an impairment trigger. Where indications of impairment exist, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment made if the asset’s 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. 

 

 The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Where the future economic benefit of an asset is not primarily 
dependent on the asset’s ability to generate future cash flows, and the asset would be 
replaced if the Branch was deprived of the asset, its value in use is taken to be its 
depreciated replacement cost. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

1.8  Taxation 
 
 The Branch is exempt from income tax under section 50.1 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997 however still has obligation for Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and the Goods and 
Services Tax (GST). 
 
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office; and for receivables 
and payables. 
 
 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables. 
 
 Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is classified within operating cash flows. 
  

1.9 Going Concern 
 
 The Branch is not reliant on financial support of another reporting unit to continue on a 
going concern basis. However the Branch is reliant on the financial support of the Civil 
Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated (see Note 9). 
 
 The Branch provides no financial support to ensure another reporting unit can continue on 
a going concern basis. 
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Note 2: Income 
No income was received during the reporting period for capitation fees, levies, grants or 
donations or support from another reporting unit of the organisation. 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
Note 2A: Capitation Fees  - - 
 
Note 2B: Levies  - - 
 
Note 2C: Grants or Donations  - - 
    
Note 2D: Revenue from recovery of wages activity  - - 
 
Note 3: Expenses 
During the reporting period no expenses were incurred as consideration for employers making 
payroll deductions of membership subscriptions, compulsory levies imposed, legal costs or 
penalties imposed on the Branch under the RO Act with respect to its conduct. 
 
Note 3A: Employee Expenses 
Holders of office:    
– Wages and salaries  391,261 353,188 
– Superannuation  44,661 39,875 
– Leave and other entitlements  26,434 14,958 
Subtotal employee expenses holders of office  462,265 408,021 
Employees other than office holders:    
– Wages and salaries  5,388,904 5,573,651 
– Superannuation  711,687 683,605 
– Leave and other entitlements  11,370 48,333 
– Other employee expenses  - - 
Subtotal employee expenses other than office holders  6,111,961 6,305,589 
Total employee expenses (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
6,574,226 6,713,610 

 
Note 3B: Capitation Fees and Other Expense to Another Reporting Unit 
Capitation fees    
National Office Membership (CPSU)  (200,814) (209,413) 
Subtotal capitation fees  (200,814) (209,413) 
    
Other expense to another reporting unit  - - 
Total capitation fees and other expense to another reporting unit  (200,814) (209,413) 
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  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
Note 3C: Affiliation Fees    
Australian Council of Trade Union Affiliation fees  (75,652) (78,062) 
Total Affiliation fees  (75,652) (78,062) 
 
Note 3D: Administration Expenses 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch expenses are recorded in 
compliance with the deed (Refer Note 1.2). Administration expense for the year ended 30 June 
2022 was Nil (Nil – 2021). 
 

Note 3E: Grants or Donations    
Grants    
       Total paid that were $1,000 or less  - - 
       Total paid that exceeded $1,000  - - 
Donations    
       Total paid that were $1,000 or less  (667) (100) 
       Total paid that exceeded $1,000  - - 
Total grants or donations  (667) (100) 
 
Note 3F: Legal Costs 
Litigation  - - 
Other legal matters  - - 
Total legal costs  - - 
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Note 3G: Other Expenses  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
Advertising  (426) (411) 
Cleaning  (12,391) (13,609) 
Council Expenses  (1,815) (1,815) 
Courier Services  (1) (6) 
Covid 19 Expenses  (149) (932) 
Fuel Light and Power  (14,985) (15,445) 
General Expense  (1,393) (2,747) 
Industrial Campaigns  (30,544) (85,118) 
Insurance  (7,591) (7,365) 
Media Monitoring  (194) (87) 
Photocopy Cost  (2,023) (4,071) 
Postage       (703) (1,109) 
Promotions  (186) - 
Rates & Taxes  (12,031) (10,772) 
Security  (496) (180) 
Special Projects  (154) (1,695) 
Stationery  (610) (1,224) 
Storage Facility  (1,084) (1,151) 
Subscriptions  (718) (1,224) 
Telephone  (4,253) (4,856) 
Travelling Expenses  (41) (77) 
Web Development Costs  (867) (855) 
Penalties - via RO Act or RO Regulations  - - 
Total Other Expenses  (92,657) (154,749) 
 
Note 4: Current Assets 
The Branch has no fund or account operated in respect of compulsory levies or voluntary 
contributions, and therefore has no such monies invested in any assets. The Branch has no 
fund or account the operation of which is required by its rules or by the rules of the organisation, 
and therefore no transfers and/or withdrawal(s) from such an account. 
 
 
Note 5: Current Liabilities 
The Branch has no payables or other financial liability to any other reporting unit of the 
organisation. 
 
The Branch has no payables to employers as consideration for the employer making payroll 
deductions for membership subscriptions, or in respect of legal costs and other expenses 
related to litigation or other legal matters. 
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  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
    
Note 6: Provisions    
Note 6A: Employee Provisions    
Office holders:    
– Provision for annual leave  54,654 53,828 
– Provision for long service leave  129,556 101,191 
Subtotal employee provisions – office holders  184,210 155,019 
 
Employees other than office holders:    
– Annual leave  566,928 565,235 
– Long service leave       857,835 678,761 
Subtotal employee provisions – employees other than office 
holders 1,608,973 

     
1,399,015 

Total employee provisions (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
 1,704,254 1,554,236 

    
Current  1,608,973 1,399,015 
Non-current  95,281 155,221 
Total employee provisions (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
1,704,254 1,554,236 

 
Note 8: Cash Flow 
As a result of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian 
Branch’s relationship with the CSA, the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group 
Western Australian Branch’s funds are not a discrete deposit of monies, separate to that of the 
CSA.   
 
The funds are identified as a notional sum in the CSA accounts and in accordance with the 
deed.  The CSA undertakes all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf of the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch, which does not 
hold a bank account in its own name or have any cash assets and all financial obligations 
incurred by the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch 
are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
 
Note 9: Related Party Disclosures 
Since the inception of the Civil Service Association of WA Incorporated, it has provided 
financial and other resource support to the CPSU WA Branch. The CSA has in correspondence 
dated 31st August 2022 formalised the nature of that support and resolved to continue to fund 
the operations of the Branch by way of making necessary payments on behalf of CPSUWA 
from time to time and/or the provision of staff and other resources as required. 
 
The CSA has undertaken to consult with the Branch should it become necessary to alter or 
cease this support and in any event will give at least three months’ notice of any such alteration 
or cessation. 
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  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
Note 9A: Related Party Transactions for the Reporting Period 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant year. 
Revenue received from the following:    
– Civil Service Association of Western Australia 

incorporated 
 - - 

  - - 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related 
parties 

   

The terms of the revenue received from the related party are as per Note 9 above. There have 
been no guarantees required or provided by the Branch for any of the revenue received from 
the related party. For the year ended 30 June 2022 there are no amounts owed to the Branch 
by a related party, declared person or body (2021: $Nil) 
 
Note 9B: Key Management Personnel Remuneration for the Reporting Period 
Pursuant to a certificate issued under s71 of the WA Industrial Relations Act 1979, the two full 
time elected officials of the Community and Public Section Union SPSF Group WA Branch 
[Key Management Personnel] are also the two full time elected officials of the CSA.  The 
relevant titles are Branch Secretary and Branch Assistant Secretary for the Community and 
Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch and General Secretary and 
Assistant General Secretary for the CSA.  
 
Short-term employee benefits:    
– Salary (including annual leave taken)  373,071 353,188 
– Annual leave accrued  9,318 (269) 
– Remuneration for attending meeting & conferences & 

travel allowance 
                       

- 
                             

- 
– Committee honorariums  - - 
– Meeting expenses  - - 
Total short-term employee benefits  382,389 352,919 
    
Post-employment benefits:    
– Superannuation  40,845 39,875 
Total post-employment benefits  40,845 39,875 
    
Other long-term benefits:    
– Long service leave  13,101 15,228 
Total long-term benefits  13,101 15,228 
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Note 9C: Remuneration Paid to the Employees (Other than Office Holders) 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch has 70 
employees.  It effectively operates as a dual employer of the employees with the CSA.  All 
employee expenses are paid through the CSA.  
 
The following employee expenses were paid through CSA and recoded as a liability for CSA: 
  2022 2021 
  $ $ 
Short-term employee benefits:    
– Salary (including annual leave taken)  5,391,393 5,573,651 
– Annual leave accrued  (8,430) (3,582) 
– Separation & Redundancies  - - 
Total short-term employee benefits  5,382,963 5,570,069 
Post-employment benefits:    
– Superannuation  711,687 683,605 
Total post-employment benefits  711,687 683,605 
 
Other long-term benefits:    
– Long service leave  19,799 51,915 
Total long-term benefits  19,799 51,915 
 
Note 10: Remuneration of Auditors 
    
Value of the services provided    
– Financial statement audit services  3,000 3,000 
– Other services & membership audit  - - 
Total remuneration of auditors  3,000 3,000 
 
Note 11: Events after the reporting period 
 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the Branch's operations, the results of those operations, or the Branch's 
state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note 12: Administration of financial affairs by a third party 
  
Name of entity providing service:  Not Applicable 
Terms and conditions:  Not Applicable 
Nature of expenses/consultancy service:  Not Applicable 
 
Note 13: Section 272 Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009 
In accordance with the requirements of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009, the 
attention of members is drawn to the provisions of subsections (1) to (3) of section 272, which 
reads as follows: 
Information to be provided to members or the Commissioner: 
(1) A member of a reporting unit, or the Commissioner, may apply to the reporting unit for 

specified prescribed information in relation to the reporting unit to be made available to the 
person making the application. 

(2) The application must be in writing and must specify the period within which, and the manner 
in which, the information is to be made available. The period must not be less than 14 days 
after the application is given to the reporting unit. 

(3) A reporting unit must comply with an application made under subsection (1). 
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OFFICER DECLARATION STATEMENT 

I, Rikki Hendon, being the Branch Secretary of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group WA Branch, declare that the following activities did not occur during the reporting period 
ending 30 June 2022. 
 
The Branch did not: 
 

• Agree to receive financial support from another reporting unit as a going concern (refers 
to agreement regarding financial support not dollar amount) 

• Agree to provide financial support to another reporting unit to ensure they continue as a 
going concern (refers to agreement regarding financial support not dollar amount) 

• Acquire an asset or liability due to amalgamation under Part 2 of Chapter 3 of the RO Act, 
a restructure of the branches of an organization, a determination or revocation by the 
General Manager, Fair Work Commission 

• Receive capitation fees or any other revenue amount from another reporting unit 
• Receive revenue via compulsory levies 
• Receive donations or grants 
• Receive revenue from undertaking recovery of wages activity 
• Incur fees as consideration for employers making payroll deductions of membership 

subscriptions 
• Pay any other expense to another reporting unit 
• Pay compulsory levies 
• Pay a grant that was $1,000 or less 
• Pay a grant that exceeded $1,000 
• Pay a donation that exceeded $1,000 
• Pay to a person fees or allowances to attend conferences or meetings as a representative 

of the reporting unit 
• Incur expenses due to holding a meeting as required under the rules of the organization 
• Pay legal costs relating to litigation 
• Pay legal costs relating to other legal matters 
• Pay a penalty imposed under the RO Act or the Fair Work Act 2009 
• Have a receivable with other reporting unit(s) 
• Have a payable with other reporting unit(s) 
• Have a payable to an employer for that employer making payroll deductions of membership 

subscriptions 
• Have a payable in respect of legal costs relating to litigation 
• Have a payable in respect of legal costs relating to other legal matters 
• Have a fund or account for compulsory levies, voluntary contributions or required by the 

rules of the organization or branch 
• Transfer to or withdraw from a fund (other than the general fund), account, asset or 

controlled entity 
• Have a balance within the general fund 
• Provide cash flows to another reporting unit and/or controlled entity 
• Receive cash flows from another reporting unit and/or controlled entity 
• Have another entity administer the financial affairs of the reporting unit 
• Make a payment to a former related party of the reporting unit 

 

 
-------------------------------------------- 
Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated: 8th September 2022 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WA BRANCH 

 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022 there have 
been: 

i. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Fair Work 
(Registered Organisation) Act 2009 (“the RO Act”), in relation to the audit, and 

ii. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
SW Audit (formerly ShineWing Australia) 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 
Richard Gregson 
Partner 
 

Perth, 8th September 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WA 
BRANCH 

 

Opinion  
We have audited the financial report of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch (“the 
Branch”) which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity, and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by the 
Committee of Management.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch 
is in accordance with the reporting guidelines in Part 3 of Chapter 8 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisation) Act 
2009 (“the RO Act”) including:  

a. giving a true and fair view of the Branch’s financial position as at 30 June 2022, and of its financial performance 
for the year then ended, and  

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report. We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the auditor independence requirements and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report  
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and has 
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet the 
requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards and the Fair Work (Registered Organisation) Act 2009 and is 
appropriate to meet the needs of the members. Management’s responsibility also includes such internal control as 
the management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the management is responsible for assessing the Branch’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Branch’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Branch’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

 

 
SW Audit (formerly ShineWing Australia) 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 
Richard Gregson 
Partner 
 

Perth, 8th September 2022 
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

In the opinion of the Committee the financial report as set out on pages 6 to 35; 
 
1. Presents fairly the financial position of The Civil Service Association of Western Australia 

Incorporated as at 30 June 2022 and its performance for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.  

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Civil Service 
Association of Western Australia Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable for the next 12 months from the date of signing the financial report. 

3. The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2022 has been properly drawn up in 
accordance with the Industrial Relation Act 1979 (WA) (“IR Act”) and the Industrial Relations 
Commission Regulations 2005 (WA) (“the IRC Regulations”). 
 

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on 
the behalf of the Committee by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      
......................................................   ................................................... 
R HENDON      M ABRAHAMSON 
General Secretary     President 
 
 
 
Dated at Perth this   8th       day of      September     2022 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE MEMBERS OF 

THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
INCORPORATED 

 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022 there have 
been: 

i. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Industrial Relations 
Act 1979 (WA) (“the IR Act”) and the Industrial Relations Commission Regulations 2005 (WA) 
(“IRC Regulations”), in relation to the audit, and 

ii. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
SW Audit (formerly ShineWing Australia) 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 
Richard Gregson 
Partner 
 

Perth, 8th September 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
INCORPORATED 

 

Opinion  
We have audited the financial report of The Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated (the 
Association and its controlled entities (“the Group”)) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by 
those charged with governance.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of The Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated 
is in accordance with the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (WA) (“the IR Act”) and the Industrial Relations Commission 
Regulations 2005 (WA) (“the IRC Regulations”) including:  

a. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial performance 
for the year then ended, and  

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the IR Act, 
the IRC Regulations and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting  
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report 
has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Association’s financial reporting responsibilities the IR Act and 
the IRC Regulations. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report  
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and has 
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet the 
requirements of the IR Act and the IRC Regulations and is appropriate to meet the needs of the members. 
Management’s responsibility also includes such internal control as the management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 



 

 

3 

Take the lead 

 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

 

 
SW Audit (formerly ShineWing Australia) 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 
Richard Gregson 
Partner 
 
Perth, 8th September 2022 
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 

 NOTES CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Revenues from 
continuing operations 

 
2 8,681,045  8,918,488  8,681,045  8,918,488 

         
 
Employee expenses 

 
(7,045,630)  (7,266,890)  (7,045,630)  (7,266,890) 

Legal fees  (117,801)  (89,450)  (117,801)  (89,450) 
Depreciation expense 3 (378,414)  (380,774)  (378,414)  (380,774) 
Bad debt expense  (7,875)  (14,283)  (7,875)  (37,283) 
Other expenses from 
ordinary activities  (1,467,305)  (1,467,042)  (1,465,414)  (1,472,756) 
Operating result 
before income tax 
expense 

 
 
4 

 
 (335,980)           

(299,951)       
(334,089)        

(328,665) 

                               
Income tax expense  

              
4 

             
- 

               
- 

         
- 

        
- 

 
Operating result for 
the year 

 
(335,980)  (299,951)  (334,089)  (328,665) 

 
Other Comprehensive 
Income 

        

 
Other comprehensive 
income for the year 
net of tax 

 
 

 
                     

- 

  
                   

- 

  
                   

- 

  
                   

- 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  (335,980)  (299,951)  (334,089)  (328,665) 

            
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 NOTE CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
  2022  2021  2022  2021 
  $  $  $  $ 
CURRENT ASSETS         
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,582,212  1,621,503  1,582,900  1,620,817 
Trade and other receivables 6 587,152  644,043  588,356  646,343 
TOTAL CURRENT 
ASSETS 

  
2,169,364 

      
2,265,546 

  
2,171,256 

   
2,267,160 

         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS         
Other financial assets 7 -  -  -  - 
Property, plant and 
equipment 

          
8 

    
5,135,484 

     
5,426,212 

    
5,135,484 

   
5,426,212 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS 

 5,135,484  5,426,212  5,135,484  5,426,212 

TOTAL ASSETS  7,304,848  7,691,758  7,306,740  7,693,372 

         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Trade and other payables 9 642,215        750,180  642,215  749,494 
Provisions 10 1,513,692     1,399,015  1,513,692   1,399,015 
Income tax provision 4 -    -      -     - 

TOTAL CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

 2,215,907  2,149,195  2,155,907  2,148,509 
         
NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

        

Provisions 10 95,281  155,221  95,281  155,221 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

 95,281        155,221  95,281      155,221 

TOTAL LIABILITIES     2,251,188  2,304,416   2,251,188  2,303,730 

NET ASSETS  5,053,661  5,387,342  5,055,552  5,389,642 
         
EQUITY         
Retained earnings 11 5,053,661  5,387,342  5,055,552  5,389,642 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,053,661  5,387,342  5,055,552  5,389,642 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY          ASSOCIATION 
 
 
Total equity at the beginning 
of the financial year 

2022 
$ 

5,387,342 

2021 
$ 

5,687,293 

2022 
$ 

5,389,642 

2021 
$ 

5,718,307 

     
Operating result for the year (335,980) (299,951) (334,089) (328,665) 
     
Other comprehensive income - - - - 
     
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 
(335,980) (299,951) (334,089) (328,665) 

     
Total equity at the end of the 
financial year 5,053,661 

 
5,387,342 

 
5,055,552 5,389,642 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities 

       

Receipts from customers and 
members 8,747,332  8,734,200  8,748,428  8,739,950 

Payments to suppliers and 
employees (8,684,006)  (8,779,525)  (8,683,728)  (8,785,959) 

Interest received (14,931)  17,279  (14,279)  17,279 

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities (Note 14 (b)) 

         
48,396          

(28,046)           
49,769          

(28,730) 
        
Cash Flows from Investing 
Activities        

Payments for property, plant & 
equipment 

       
(87,686)        

(176,064)        
(87,686)        

(176,064) 

Net cash outflow from 
investing activities 

       
(87,686)       

(176,064)        
(87,686)        

(176,064) 
        
Cash Flows from Financing 
Activities        

Net cash outflow from 
financing activities 

-  -  -  - 

Net decreases in cash and 
cash equivalents held 

       
(39,290)       

(204,110)        
(37,917)        

(204,794) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of year 

     
1,621,503      

1,825,613      
1,620,817      

1,825,611 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year (Note 14 (a)) 

    
1,582,212      

1,621,503      
1,582,900      

1,620,817 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
1. Basis of preparation 

These special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Industrial Relation Act 1979 (WA) (“the IR Act”) and the Industrial Relations Commission 
Regulations 2005 (WA) (“the IRC Regulations”) and Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The Entity is a not-
for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are 
presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded 
to the nearest dollar 

The financial report covers the consolidated entity of The Civil Service Association of 
Western Australia Incorporated and its controlled entities. The Civil Service Association 
of Western Australia Incorporated as an individual entity.   

The Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated is a Trade Union 
registered under the Western Australia Industrial Relations Act 1979. 
 

Going Concern 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
assumes continuity of normal activities of the Association, realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of Association for the next 12 months from 
the date of signing the financial statements. 

  
1.2 AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 

 

1.2.1 2020-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classifications of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and AASB 2020-6: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – 
Deferral of Effective Date  
 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities 
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current. For example, the 
amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity has the right at 
the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. The meaning of settlement of a liability is also clarified. 

 

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
 

The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current 
practice and consider the appropriate classification of liabilities as current or non-current. 
 

1.2.2 AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 
 
This Standard amends a number of standards as follows: 

• AASB 3: Business Combinations to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business 
combinations; 

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing 
whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different 
from the terms of the original financial liability; 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.2 AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 (Continued) 
 

1.2.2 AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments (Continued) 

• AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment to require an entity to recognise the sales 
proceeds from selling items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment 
for its intended use and the related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the 
amounts received from the cost of the asset; 

• AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets to specify the 
costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making; 
and 

Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

1.2.3 AASB 2021-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates (amends AASB 7, 
AASB 101, AASB 108 & AASB Practice Statement 2) 
This Standard amends a number of standards as follows: 

• AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures to clarify that information about 
measurement bases for financial instruments is expected to be material to an entity’s 
financial statements; 

• AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements to require entities to disclose their 
material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting 
policies; 

• AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to 
clarify how entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies and changes in 
accounting estimates; 

• AASB Practice Statement 2, to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of 
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. 

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
No impact on reported financial performance or position and the amendments would 
leads to reductions in quantum of accounting policies disclosures to focus on key 
decision areas and material policies only. 
 

1.2.4 AASB 2021-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transactions (AASB 1 and 
AASB 112) 
 
This Standard amends AASB 112 to clarify the accounting for deferred tax on 
ransactions that, at the time of the transaction, give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. In specified circumstances, entities are exempt from recognising 
deferred tax when they recognise assets or liabilities for the first time. The amendments 
clarify that the exemption does not apply to transactions for which entities recognise both 
an asset and a liability and that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. This may be the case for transactions such as leases and decommissioning, 
restoration and similar obligations. Entities are required to recognise deferred tax on 
such transactions. 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.2 AASB Standards issued but not yet effective as at 30 June 2022 (Continued) 
 
1.2.4 AASB 2021-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax 

related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transactions (AASB 1 and 
AASB 112) (Continued) 
 
In addition, AASB 2021-5 amends AASB 1 to require deferred tax related to leases and 
decommissioning, restoration and similar obligations to be recognised by first-time 
adopters at the date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards, despite the 
exemption set out in AASB 112. 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

 
1.2.5 AASB 2022-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Illustrative 

Examples for Not-for-Profit Entities accompanying AASB 15 
 
This Standard provides an example 7A under IE4A to illustrate the accounting for upfront 
fee received by an organisation as per AASB 15. Upfront fee may include enrolment fee 
collected by schools, membership fee/joining fee of clubs, establishment fee etc., 
collected at the inception of an agreement. This example essentially demonstrates how 
an entity should apply the provisions in AASB 15.B48-B51 regarding accounting for a 
non-refundable upfront fee collected from customer. Additionally, it specifies that the 
upfront fee that does not represent separate performance obligation (i.e., it only relates 
to administrative or set up activities performed for a future service to be provided) has to 
be regarded as an advance payment towards such future services. Hence,M they are 
recognised as and when revenue is recognised in relation to such future services as per 
AASB 15. 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

 
1.3 Principles of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Association and all entities controlled by the Association.  A list of these controlled 
entities appears in Note 7.  All inter-entity balances and unrealised profits resulting from 
inter-entity transactions at reporting date have been eliminated. 
 

1.4 Income Tax 
 
The Association is exempt from the payment of income tax under the provisions of 
Section 50-15 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
In relation to the subsidiaries of The Civil Service Association of Western Australia 
Incorporated that are taxable entities, the income tax expense or revenue for the period 
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.  
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
1.5 Investments 

 
Investments in controlled entities are stated in the Association's accounts at cost.  The 
carrying amount of investments is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount of these investments. 

 
1.6 Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation.  Items of property, 
plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives commencing from 
the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the 
proceeds of disposal, and is included in the results of the year of the disposal. 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding freehold land, 
are depreciated on a diminishing value basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows: 

• Buildings and improvements  1.5% - 11.25% 
• Plant and equipment   2.0% - 40% 
• Motor vehicles    18.75%  
 
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(f)). 
 

1.7 Financial Instruments 

1.7.1 Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is 
equivalent to the date that the Entity commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the 
asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through 
profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. 
Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In 
other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables 
do not contain significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied 
as specified in AASB 15.63. 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 

1.7.2 Classification and subsequent measurement 

1.7.2.1 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at: 

– amortised cost; or 

–fair value through profit and loss. 

 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability 
is: 

– a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 
applies; 

–held for trading; or 

–initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. 
That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the 
expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition. 

A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 

– incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

–part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; 

–a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee 
contract or a derivative that is in an effective hedging relationship); or 

–any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to 
the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's 
credit risk is taken to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss. Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the 
financial liability. 

If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an 
accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses are taken to profit or loss rather than 
other comprehensive income. A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 

  



THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 

15 

 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
1.7.2.2 Financial asset 

Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

 –amortised cost; 

–fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

–fair value through profit and loss 

on the basis of the two primary criteria, being: 

– the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 
–the business model for managing the financial assets. 
 A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost when it meets the 
following conditions: 
 – the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; 
and 

–the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on 
specified dates. 
 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income when it meets the following conditions: 
 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding on specified dates; and 
–the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual 
cash flows collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the conditions of amortised 
cost and the fair value through other comprehensive income's measurement 
condition are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Entity initially designates financial instruments as measured at fair value through 
profit or loss if: 

 – it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency (often referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases; 

–it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy 
and information about the groupings was documented appropriately, so the 
performance of the financial liability that was part of a group of financial liabilities 
or financial assets can be managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value 
basis; and 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
1.7.2.2 Financial asset (Continued) 

–it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly 
modifies the cash flows otherwise required by the contract. 

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value 
through profit and loss is a one-time option on initial classification and is 
irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 

1.7.3 Equity instruments 

At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading or is not a 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which 
AASB 3 applies, the Entity made an irrevocable election to measure the equity 
instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue received on 
underlying equity instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss. 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 
at settlement date in accordance with the Entity's accounting policy. 

1.7.4 Derecognition 

Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or 
financial liability from the statement of financial position. 

1.7.4.1 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a 
new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of 
a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and 
recognition of a new financial liability. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

1.7.4.2 Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows 
expires, or the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are substantially transferred. 

All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset: 

– the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

–all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially 
transferred; and 

–the Entity no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make 
unilateral decisions to sell the asset to a third party).  
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
1.7.4.2 Derecognition of financial assets (Continued) 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 

On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under 
fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, 
but is transferred to retained earnings. 

1.7.5 Impairment 

The Entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

– financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income; 

–lease receivables; 

–contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts); 

–loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

–financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. 

Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

–equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected to be received, all 
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument. 

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 

At each reporting date, the Entity recognises the movement in the loss allowance as 
an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss 
allowance relating to that asset. 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
1.7.5 Impairment (Continued) 
 

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. An 
amount in relation to change in credit risk is transferred from other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss at every reporting period. 

For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, 
financial guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of 
financial position to recognise the loss allowance. 

1.8 Impairment of Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
1.9 Employee Benefits 

 
Provision is made for the Association’s liability for employee entitlements arising from 
services rendered by employees up to balance date. These entitlements include wages 
and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave. Employee entitlements have been 
measured at the current values of leave owing to the respective employee, plus related 
on-costs. The calculation has been made for all employees from the date of 
commencement and the liability is classified as current for all employees who have 
completed five years of continuous service at the reporting date. 

1.10 Segment Reporting 
 
A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of 
the segments operating in other economic environments. The entity operates in the one 
geographical segment being Australia and operates predominantly in the one industry 
segment being union services. A business segment is identified for a group of assets 
and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different to those of other business segments.  Revenue is derived from 
the following: 

• Membership subscriptions 

• Property rental 

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, 
where applicable, are shown within borrowings in the current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position.  
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.12 Trade and other Receivables 

 
Receivables to be settled within 60 days are carried at amounts due. Trade receivables 
are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less 
provision for doubtful debts.  

 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Association will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 

 
1.13 The Entity as lessor 

 
The Entity leases some rooms in their building to external parties. 
 
Upon entering into each contract as a lessor, the Entity assesses if the lease is a 
finance or operating lease. The contract is classified as a finance lease when the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases not within this definition are classified as operating leases.  
 
Rental income received from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the specific lease.  
 
Initial direct costs incurred in entering into an operating lease (eg legal cost, cost to 
setup) are included in the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Rental income due under finance 
leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Entity’s net investment in 
the leases.  

 
When a contract is determined to include lease and non-lease components, the Entity 
uses the relative stand-alone price to allocate the consideration under the contract to 
the lease and non-lease components. 

 
1.14 Trade and other payables 

 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services 
received, whether or not billed to the Association or consolidated entity.  Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 60 days. 

 
1.15 Revenue Recognition 

 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
Membership income is recognised on an accrual basis. The rendering of services is 
recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer. Interest revenue is 
recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 
the financial assets.   
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
1.16 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, 
unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 
In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 

 
1.17 Comparative Figures 

 
Where required by Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current year. 
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 

NOTE 2 - REVENUE 
        
Revenue from continuing operations        
- Subscription income 7,662,060  7,820,418  7,662,060  7,820,418 
- Commission 56,420  129,600  56,420  129,600 
- Lease income 957,416  929,279  957,416  929,279 
- Other 20,080  21,912  20,080  21,912 
 8,695,976  8,901,209  8,695,976  8,901,209 
Other revenue        
- Interest      14,931  17,279  14,931  17,279 
        

Total Revenue 8,681,045  8,918,488  8,681,045  8,918,488 
 
 
NOTE 3 – EXPENSES 

    

        
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 
 
Employee expenses        
        
Holders of office        
 - Wages & salaries 391,261  353,188  391,261  353,188 
 - Superannuation 44,661  39,875  44,661  39,875 
 - Leave & other entitlements  26,343  14,958  26,343  14,958 
   462,265      408,021     462,265      408,021 
        
        
Employees other than office 
holders 

       

 - Wages & salaries 5,391,393  5,573,651  5,388,904  5,573,651 
 - Superannuation 699,241  683,605  711,687  683,605 
 - Leave & other entitlements 11,370  48,333  11,370  48,333 
 - Separation & redundancies -  -  -  - 
 6,111,961  6,305,589  6,111,961  6,305,589 

        
                                                 
Total employee expenses 
 

 6,574,226  6,713,610  6,574,226  6,713,610 
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CONSOLIDATED                    ASSOCIATION 

 

 
 
NOTE 4 – INCOME TAX EXPENSE   
 

    

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 
expense (335,980)  (299,951)  (334,089)  (328,665) 
(a) tax at 27.5% -  -  -  - 
Less: Tax exempt (loss)/ income -  -  -  - 
Less: Utilisation of tax losses 
not previously recognised. 

 
 - 

  
 - 

  
 - 

  
- 

 
Income tax expense 

 
- 

    
        - 

  
 - 

  
  - 

        
(b) Deferred tax asset not 
brought to account, the benefits 
of which will only be realised if 
the conditions for deductibility 
set out in Note 1(c) occur 

       

-  tax losses      -  -  -  - 
-  timing differences      -    -  -  - 
      -  -  -  - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 ENTITY     
 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
 
NOTE 3 – EXPENSES (cont’d) 
 

       

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 378,414  380,774      378,414  380,774 

Affiliation fees – Unions WA 102,457  103,803  102,457  103,803 
Auditors' remuneration 
  - audit 

       
14,928           

15,375          
14,928         

15,375 
Legal costs  117,801   89,450       117,801  89,450 

Net loss/ (gain) on sale of fixed 
assets   -  8,182        -  8,182 

Donations 6,000  1,000  6,000  1,000 
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 CONSOLIDATED  

ENTITY 
 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
 
NOTE 5 – CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 
 

       

Cash at bank 1,580,212  1,619,503  1,580,900  1,618,817 
Cash on hand 2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000 

 1,582.212  1,621,503  1,582,900  1,620,817 

 
 
 
NOTE 6 – TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES 

       

        
Current        
Trade and other debtors 483,136  548,896  484,340  547,196 
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (7,755)  (14,283)  (7,755)  (37,283) 
 475,381  534,613  476,585  509,913 
        
Prepayments 111,771  109,430  111,771  109,430 

 587,152  644,043  588,356  619,343 

 
There are related party debtors of $12,462 (2021: $6,055) for CPSU, the Community and 
Public Sector Union (PSU Group) within trade and other debtors. 
 
No debtors have been identified that will be receivable in more than six months. 
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 CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
NOTE 7 – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS       
Shares in controlled entity (at cost) -  -  -  - 
Less: Provision for diminution of 
investment 

 
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

               
-                  

                  
- 

                   
- 

                  
- 

 
The Association has fully provided for their investment in Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd, as the 
Association do not consider the balance recoverable. 
 
The parent entity of the consolidated entity is The Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia Incorporated.  The Association controls the following entities which are currently 
under the voluntary deregistration process: 
 
ENTITY        COUNTRY OF  
     INCORPORATION  OWNED % 2022 2021 
        2022 2021 $ $ 
Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd   Australia 100 100            -  - 
Civil Service Insurance Agency Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 
CSA Services (WA) Pty Ltd   Australia 100 100  - - 
     

The result of the consolidated entity, after provision for income tax was contributed by the 
following entities: 
 2022  2021 
 $  $ 
The Civil Service Association of WA Inc (334,089)  (328,665) 
Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd (1,891)  - 
Civil Service Insurance Agency Pty Ltd -  - 
CSA Services (WA) Pty Ltd -  - 
    

Loss for the year (335,980)  (328,665) 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 

 
NOTE 8 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
 

       

Land - at cost 365,147  365,147  365,147  365,147 
        
Buildings - at cost   10,388,502  10,368,973   10,388,502  10,368,973 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (6,080,031)   (5,806,775)  (6,080,031)  (5,806,775) 

    4,308,471  4,562,198     4,308,471  4,562,198 
Furniture, fittings and 
equipment 
 - at cost 2,911,836  2,843,679  2,911,836  2,843,679 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (2,566,968)  (2,488,812)  (2,566,968)  (2,488,812) 

 344,868  354,867  344,868  354,867 
        
Motor vehicles - at cost 236,874  236,874  236,874  236,874 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (119,876)  (92,874)  (119,876)  (92,874) 

 116,998  144,000  116,998  144,000 

 5,135,484  5,426,212  5,135,484  5,426,212 
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NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 
 
Movements in carrying amounts 2022 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2022. 
 

Consolidated entity 
  

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year  365,147   4,562,198   354,867   144,000   5,426,212  
Additions  -   19,529   68,157    -   87,686  
Depreciation expense  -   (273,256)  (78,156)  (27,002)  (378,414) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year  365,147   4,308,471   344,868   116,998   5,135,484  

      
Association 
 

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year  365,147   4,562,198   354,867   144,000   5,426,212  
Additions  -   19,529   68,157    -   87,686  
Depreciation expense  -   (273,256)  (78,156)  (27,002)  (378,414) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year  365,147   4,308,471   344,868   116,998   5,135,484  

      
Movements in Carrying amounts 2021 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 
 

Consolidated entity 
  

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year 

   
365,147 

  
4,751,712 

     
336,840 

    
177,223 

   
5,630,922 

Additions -     78,454 97,610 - 176,064 
Disposals - net - - - - - 
Depreciation expense - (267,968) (79,583) (33,223) (380,774) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year 365,147 4,562,198 354,867 144,000 5,426,212 

      
Association 
 

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year 

    
365,147 

  
4,751,712 

     
336,840 

    
177,223 

   
5,630,922 

Additions - 78,454 97,610 -     176,064 
Disposals - net - -    - - - 
Depreciation expense - (267,968)    (79,583) (33,223) (380,774) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year 365,147 4,562,198 354,867 144,000 5,426,212 
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CONSOLIDATED  

ENTITY 
 ASSOCIATION 

2022  2021  2022  2021 
$  $  $  $ 

 
NOTE 9 – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
Current 
Sundry creditors and accruals 642,215  750,180  642,215  749,494 

 642,215  750,180  642,215  749,494 

 
NOTE 10 - PROVISIONS 
        
Employee provisions – current       
        
Office holders        
- Provision for annual leave 54,654  53,828  54,654  53,828 
- Provision for long service 
leave 129,556 

 
101,191 

 
129,556 

 
101,191 

 184,210  155,019  184,210  155,019 

Employees other than office holders      
- Provision for annual leave 566,928  565,235  566,928  565,235 
- Provision for long service 
leave 

     
857,835 

       
678,761 

      
857,835 

       
678,761 

 1,424,763  1,243,996  1,212,564  1,243,996 

Total employee provisions – 
current 1,513,692 

 
1,399,015 

 
1,513,692 

 
1,399,015 

        
Employee provisions - Non-current       
        
Provision for long service leave –        
- Employees other than office 
  holders 95,281 

 
155,221 

 
95,281 

 
155,221 

Total employee provisions – 
non-current 95,281 

 
155,221 

 
95,281 

 
155,221 

Number of employees at year 
end 75 

 
74 

 
74 

 
74 
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NOTE 11 – RETAINED EARNINGS  
 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Retained earnings 5,061,536  5,387,342  5,063,428  5,389,642 

 
 

NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
(a) Executive Committee 

 
The names of the persons who held office as members of the Executive Committee 
at any time during the reporting year were: 
 

 
Name 

 
Position 

 

Rikki Hendon Branch Secretary  Elected 1st March 2021 
Melanie Bray Branch Assistant 

Secretary  
Elected 1st March 2021 

John Lamb Branch Treasurer Elected 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Branch President Elected 1st March 2021 
Becky Anderson Branch Vice President Elected 1st March 2021 
Lewis Stevens Branch Vice President Elected 1st March 2021 
Denise Henden Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Leanne Reid Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Jeremy Mowe Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Rod Schoneveld Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Anette Bohm Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 

   
 
 

CONSOLIDATED    
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 

 
(b) Remuneration of Executive Committee Members 
 

 The aggregate amount 
of remuneration 
received or receivable 
by members of the 
committee (including 
salaries) as listed in 
Note 12 (a) in respect 
of the management of 
the Association.   462,265  

 
 
 
 

408,021  

 
 
 

  462,265  

 
 
 

408,021 

 This remuneration is detailed in note 3. 
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 (c)  Other Related Party Transactions 
 

During the year, the ultimate parent entity, The Civil Service Association of WA 
Incorporated, charged management, referral fees and rent to controlled entities to the 
value of NIL (2021: NIL).  These fees were based on commercial terms and conditions. 

 
 
NOTE 13 – COMMITMENTS 
 
The consolidated entity has entered into non-cancellable operating leases with lease terms in 
excess of one year in respect of office equipment and plant & equipment. 
 
At reporting date the aggregate lease commitment was as follows: 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 
 

 CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
(i) due within one year 76,367  8,580  76,367  8,580 
(ii) due later than one year  

and less than two years 119,376  8,580  119,376  8,580 
(iii)due later than two years  

and less than five years 33,775  7,150  33,775       7,150 

 229,518  24,310  229,518  24,310 
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NOTE 14 – CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 
     (a) Reconciliation of Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement 
is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED    
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Cash and cash equivalents 453,294  584,840  453,981  594,154 
Term deposits 1,128,918  1,026,663  1,128,918  1,026,663 

 1,582,213  1,621,503  1,582,900  1,620,817 

 
(b) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow/ (outflow) from 
operating activities 
 

Loss for the year (335,980)  (299,951)  (334,089)  (328,665) 
        
Non-cash flows in surplus 
from ordinary activities 

       

Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 378,414  380,774  378,414  380,774 
Bad debt expense (7,875)  (14,283)  (7,875)  (37,283) 
        
Change in assets and 
liabilities 

       

(Increase)/decrease in trade 
and other debtors 51,356  

      
(167,009)  

       
89,735  

     
(161,259) 

(Increase)/decrease in 
prepayments (2,341)  (31,045)       (2,341)  

        
(31,045) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade 
and other payables (107,965)  11,611  (107,279)       10,891 
Increase/(decrease) in 
provisions for employee 
leave benefits 54,737  63,291  54,737  

                                                            
63,291 

Increase/(decrease) in 
income tax provision -  -  -  - 

Net cash outflow from 
operating activities 48,396  (28,046)  49,769  (28,730) 
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
(i) Interest Rate Risk 
The group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short-term deposits. The policy 
is to monitor the interest rate yield curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained 
between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return: 
 
Consolidated Entity 
 

30/06/22 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 451,294 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379     
Cash 1.3% 92,267 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.7% to 2.8% - - 1,028,272 - - 
  553,940 - 1,028,272 - - 

 
 

30/06/21 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 502,925 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379     
Cash 1.3% 81,536 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.7% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
  594,840 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Association 
 

30/06/22 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 451,981 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379 - - - - 
Cash 1.3% 92,267 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.4% to 2.8% - - 1,028,272 - - 
  554,627  1,028,272 - - 
 
 

30/06/21 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1%  502,239 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379 - - - - 
Cash 1.3% 81,536 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.4% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
  594,154 20,000 1,006,663 - - 

 
 
(ii) Credit Risk 

The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of collateral or other 
security, in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net 
of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and 
notes to the financial statements. 
The group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor group or 
group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Association. 
 
The effect of a 1% movement in interest rates on $1,582,899 would be an extra $15,829 
income if interest rates rise or cost if interest rates fall. 

 
(iii) Market Risk 
      All trade and other payables are due within 3 months.   
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NOTE 16 – ASSOCIATION DETAILS 
 
The principal place of business of the Association is: 
 
 Level 5, 445 Hay Street, Perth Western Australia 6000. 
 
 
NOTE 17 – EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 
 
 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the 
Association's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 
 
            



 

34 

 
THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 

 
DETAILED OPERATING STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 
 ASSOCIATION 
 2022  2021 
 $  $ 
INCOME    
Members' subscriptions 7,662,060  7,820,418 
Interest on investments (14,931)  17,279 
Miscellaneous income 20,080  21,912 
Management fees -  - 
Lease income 957,416  929,279 
Commission income 56,420  129,600 

TOTAL INCOME 8,681,045  8,918,488 
    
EXPENDITURE    
Advertising 6,492  3,695 
Affiliation fees 102,456  103,803 
Audit & accounting 
Bad debt expense 

14,242 
7,875 

 12,375 
37,283 

Bank charges 55,883  68,803 
Books & Publications 5,446  5,699 
Cleaning & domestic 111,523  122,484 
Computer expenses 281,286  241,261 
Council expenses 37,612  36,815 
Courier services 
Covid 19 expenses 

8 
1,342 

 55 
8,390 

Depreciation 378,414  380,774 
Donations 6,000  900 
Fuel, light & power     134,869     139,003 
General expenses 12,538  24,725 
Insurance 135,285  66,281 
Journal Publication costs -  1,534 
Journey cover 164,269  97,977 
Legal fees 117,801  89,450 
Maintenance 143,701  168,772 
Media monitoring 1,743  794 
Membership fees & levies - shoprite  10,766  11,052 
Motor vehicle costs 41,982  37,701 
Photocopy cost 18,207  36,635 
Postage 6,328  9,977 
Promotions 1,674  - 
Rates & taxes 108,281  96,944 
Regional visits 126  267 
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THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

DETAILED OPERATING STATEMENT (Cont’d) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
  

ASSOCIATION 
 2022  2021 
 $  $ 
    
Security 4,465  1,616 
Special projects       1,381         15,255 
Staff amenities 6,795  10,903 
Staff counselling 12,023  9,953 
Staff expenses 6,974,249  7,266,890 
Staff training 33,957  37,402 
Stationery 5,489  11,019 
Storage facility 9,760  10,355 
Subscriptions 6,462  11,012 
Telephone 38,279  43,702 
Travelling expenses 371  703 
Web development costs 7,799  7,695 
Workplace representatives training       7,957          9,017 
Loss on sale of assets       -  8,182 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 9,015,134  9,247,153 
    
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (334,089)  (328,665) 
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The 2021-22 Annual Report outlines the 
activities of the Community and Public Sector 
Union/Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia (CPSU/CSA) for the past financial year. 

The CPSU/CSA’s operations were once 
again impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic 
in the 2021-22 financial year. The Western 
Australian Chief Health Officer issued a series 
of “Restrictions on Access” Public Health 
Directions in the second half of 2021, which 
required workers to be vaccinated against 
COVID-19 by set dates in order to enter specific 
worksites/locations. The overwhelming 
majority of CPSU/CSA members were subject 
to these Directions. Consultation with political 
government, public health officials, peak 
public sector agencies and individual public 
sector employers about the Directions and 
their implementation was time and resource 
intensive, but critical to ensuring the interests 
of public sector workers were represented. 
Implementation of the Directions became a 
focus for workplace delegates, and generated 
high volumes of member contact through our 
Unionlink telephone and email advice service. 

COVID outbreaks in the first half of 2022 
also impacted public sector workplaces and 
drove consultation on the implementation 
of business continuity plans and health and 
safety measures including, but not limited to, 
working from home. The CPSU/CSA’s internal 
operations were also affected, but the Union 
took this opportunity to innovate, successfully 
holding its annual Delegates Convention entirely 
online in February 2022.

In spite of the challenges posed by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, activism amongst 
CPSU/CSA members has grown over the 
course of the past financial year. Child 
protection members took their first stop-work 
industrial action in over 15 years in response 
to inadequate action on dangerous workloads 
and under-resourcing. In addition, members 
from all across the sector have participated in 
campaign activity in pursuit of pay that keeps 
up with the cost of living. The development of 
delegates as workplace union leaders has been 
critical to the successful execution of 
these actions.

Our strategy to establish a Public Sector 
Alliance to campaign for better public sector 
wages, seeded in the previous financial year, 
began to bear fruit during the course of 
2021-22. The collective might of public 
sector union members secured a shift in 
the Government’s wages policy at the 2021 
Mid-Year Review. However, with Perth CPI 
skyrocketing, a more significant shift will be 
required to ensure WA public sector workers 
and their families don’t fall behind. It is clear 
that member activism will need to escalate in 
the new financial year to win on wages.

It is an honour and a privilege to lead the Union 
that represents you, the public sector workers 
who keep WA going through thick and thin. We 
look forward to continuing to work with you to 
win protections, good wages and investment in 
the services and support you deliver to Western 
Australians in 2022-23.

Executive Summary

Brian Dodds
Branch President

Rikki Hendon
Branch Secretary

Melanie Bray
Branch Asst Secretary

Matthew Abrahamson
President

Rikki Hendon
Branch Secretary
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Our Purpose

Our Values

Theory of Union

1. Equity

4. Solidarity

2. Justice

5. Integrity

3. Respect

We acknowledge imbalances of 
power within our society and seek 
for all people to be able to access 
the opportunities and support they 
need to reach their full potential 
and lead their lives with dignity.

We support and stand with others 
in their struggle for justice.

We pursue fair and just 
treatment for people in and 
beyond the workplace.

We act with transparency and 
accountability, and always in the 
interests of members.

We celebrate diversity, genuinely 
listen to each individual voice,  
and treat all people with respect 
and dignity.

The CPSU/CSA is a union of members working to deliver public services in WA. The purpose of our union 
is to develop the capacity and confidence of members to collectively build and maintain power in their 
workplaces. We exercise this power to win improved industrial and workplace rights, fairness and dignity. 
Strong union workplaces deliver better public services for WA.

If we organise and mobilise members to build action at scale, and align worker and community interests, 
we will pressure the government to improve public sector jobs and service delivery.
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The 2021-2022 financial year saw CPSU/CSA members participate in escalating industrial action and secure 
important Union wins in the Department of Communities.

Breakthrough Campaigns

Ambition: 3 significant collective actions are undertaken per year in breakthrough 
campaign areas.

The “Every Child Counts” (ECC) campaign for better 
resourcing and safe workloads in child protection 
continued in the 2021-2022 financial year. In July 
2021, child protection members participated in 
both a Workload Survey and a “Share Your Stories” 
action, via which 121 member stories were gathered. 
Through these activities, the campaign gathered 
evidence of high caseloads and manipulation of 
the “Monitored” (unallocated cases) list to share 
with decision-makers in administrative and political 
government. The powerful stories we collected 
also facilitated strong media engagement, through 
which the campaign built both public awareness of 
the chronic under-resourcing of child protection and 
political pressure to address the issues. 

During National Child Protection Week in September 
2021, nearly 400 child protection members walked 
out of their offices to participate in a “Family 
Photo” action for the ECC campaign. The strong 
participation in this action reflected the breadth and 
depth of member engagement with the campaign 
and support for its aims. Following this action, 
members visited their local Members of Parliament, 
whom they asked to advocate on their behalf to the 
Minister for Child Protection and Premier/Treasurer 
for greater resourcing of their sector. Members 
rounded out the calendar year with a Christmas 
themed action and a letter being delivered to every 
single state government MP in the state, calling 
for change.

The ECC campaign faced challenges in the early 
months of the 2022 with the first significant wave 
of COVID-19 arriving in Western Australia and 
disrupting the capacity for workers to gather en 
masse. The ECC Delegate Leadership Team met 
to determine next steps that would intensify the 

campaign whilst being mindful of COVID safety. 
The result was a decision to hold a state-wide stop 
work action on International Social Work Day, 15 
March 2022. Hundreds of members participated in a 
one-hour mass meeting on Teams, followed by local 
District Office walkouts in a range of metropolitan 
and regional locations. The Fremantle District 
Office marched to the Department of Communities 
headquarters where they held a targeted action, 
highlighting the number of children with open cases 
unable to be allocated to a caseworker and sending a 
delegation to meet with Director General, Mike Rowe, 
to discuss the issues. This significant industrial 
action was the first stop-work action taken by 
CPSU/CSA child protection members in over 15 years 
and attracted considerable media coverage and 
public attention.

A further intensification of industrial action, in the 
form of a half-day strike, was then planned for 27 
April 2022 in the lead up to the tabling of the 2022-23 
WA State Budget. Coincidentally, Minister for Child 
Protection, Simone McGurk, made a $114 million 
Child Protection funding announcement on 22 April 
2022, mere days before the planned action. Delegates 
made the decision to postpone in order to probe the 
Minister and the Department on the specifics of the 
funding before committing to more action. Through 
May, the Union conducted another Workload Survey 
(386 responses), which painted a damning picture of 
staff workloads and retention, capacity to source and 
support placements, and the Department’s capacity 
to meet community need for child protection 
services. Delegates met with Director General Mike 
Rowe and the Minister for Child Protection to discuss 
the results of the workload survey and the funding 
announcement from the Minister.
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Ambition: Secure at least one significant 
win on a widely and deeply felt issue 
every 12 months.

Industrial action re-commenced in June 2022, with 
members in the South West undertaking a half day 
strike in response to dangerous workloads, high 
numbers of unallocated open cases and the lack of 
additional resources for their district. Members and 
supportive foster carers marched to the Bunbury 
office of local MP Don Punch to hand deliver a letter 
calling on him to implore Premier/Treasurer Mark 
McGowan and Minister for Child Protection, Simone 
McGurk, to urgently address their campaign asks. 
Members resolved to meet again to consider further 
industrial action if a satisfactory response was not 
received within a month.

Whilst objectives of the “Every Child Counts” 
campaign have not yet been fully achieved, it is worth 
noting that 120 additional FTE has been secured for 
child protection since the commencement of the 
campaign in 2020.

Toward the end of the financial year, child protection 
Delegates met and decided the next step in the 
campaign will be to identify and seek the changes to 
the workload management system, which will likely 
include proposed amendments to the Workload 
Management Order issued by the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission in 2007. 

Communities more broadly saw two huge wins for 
Union members. Members and delegates in the 
Working With Children Screening Unit successfully 
defended an attack on their Specified Callings salary 
classification by their employer. These roles have 
long been identified as requiring a Specified Callings 
classification due to the experience and qualifications 
needed to undertake Complex Psychosocial forensic 
risk-assessments, looking into the complex conduct 
leading up to offending behaviour and assessing 
criminogenic needs. As a result of their stellar work 
and solidarity, Specified Callings were extended to 
the newly formed NDIS Screening Unit and have been 
protected for the future Aged Care Screening Unit. 

The Union also won an underpayment claim from 
Residential Care facilities, which has seen nearly 
$60k of backpay rightfully paid back to the workers. 
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Delegate Led

The goal of the Delegate Led organising model is to 
empower delegates and members to build a strong 
union culture in their workplaces. This year has 
been a busy year for the Delegate Led team working 
towards this goal, with 63 new delegates being 
recruited across the agencies in our team, namely 
Department of Justice, Department of Education 
(Schools), WA Police and the Department 
of Transport.

The team have been working hard to help delegates 
create independent delegate-led workplaces that 
take member action to win.

One of the numerous ways the team demonstrated 
this was by assisting and supporting delegates 
to hold workplace or online ‘paid union meetings’ 
(PUMs). PUMs are an hour in duration, can be 
held on any topic and can be attended by both 
the membership and potential membership of 
the Union. Many of the PUMs run in the past six 
months have been on the topic of Your Union 
Agreement 2022. The Delegate Led team has held a 
total of 181 PUMs either online or in person, during 
the past financial year.
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Department of Education 
(Schools)

Department of Justice

Ambition: 100% of EDCs 
and JCCs run by delegates.

Ambition: 100% of EDCs 
and JCCs run by delegates.

Ambition: 50% of delegates 
turn members out to a 
union event or get them 
to participate in a 
union activity.

Ambition: 70% of delegates 
recruit members, and 
all delegates are able to 
demonstrate they have 
taken the first steps prior 
to contacting the union in 
order to resolve issues at 
the workplace.

Ambition: 100% of 
delegates clearly 
understand their role as 
being a representative of 
the union members in 
their workplace.

Ambition: 100% of delegates 
clearly understand their role 
as being a representative of 
the union members in 
their workplace.
80% of delegates regularly 
communicate in person 
with members in their 
workplace to seek feedback 
and build community.

31 new delegates were recruited in 
this financial year. These delegates 
now run their own Electorate 
Delegate Committee (EDC) 
and largely run their own Joint 
Consultative Committee (JCC).

The Department of Justice has 
been very successful this year in 
running their own JCC & EDC.

Staff from 560 schools were 
recorded as having attended 
either an online or in-person PUM. 
Over 20 delegates attended the 
Perth Town Hall Union action in 
November 2021.

At the State Solicitors Office, 
Delegates have recruited an 
additional 16 members and have 
taken the lead in solving industrial 
issues in their office.

Delegates are taking the 
lead in discussions around a 
reclassification of the Manager 
Corporate Services role and taking 
the lead in the School Support 
Officer Agreement negotiations.

During a very challenging time 
at Banksia Hill Detention Centre, 
Delegates have taken ownership 
of solving the complex industrial 
issues on site by writing to the 
Minister for Corrective Services, 
meeting with the DG of Justice 
and Commissioner for Corrective 
Services and led on-site 
safety actions.
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Department of Transport

WA Police

80% of delegates 
regularly communicate 
in person with members 
in their workplace to 
seek feedback and 
build community.

100% of delegates clearly 
understand their role as 
being a representative of 
the union members in 
their workplace.

All delegates are able to 
demonstrate they have 
taken the first steps prior 
to contacting the union in 
order to resolve issues at 
the workplace.

100% of delegates clearly 
understand their role as 
being a representative of 
the union members in 
their workplace.

Various sections of the 
Department of Transport, 
including Licensing Centres, were 
under strain during the peak of 
the WA COVID-19 pandemic. 
Delegates came together to 
plan a response and solutions to 
keep staff safe and tabled these 
solutions to the Department of 
Transport Executive team.

WA Police were at the forefront 
of the pandemic response this 
past year. To that end, Delegates 
met with the Commissioner & 
Deputy Commissioners to assist 
in the decision-making process 
for keeping essential worksites 
running, such as the Police 
Assistance Centre. Delegates 
also provided feedback and 
education to members around 
the Mandatory Vaccination Policy 
and assisted with COVID safe 
measures at Police Headquarters 
and other sites.

Delegates run their own meetings 
with the Department of Transport 
Executive and have led the 
response to the planned merger 
of some Directorates with the 
Government Department, 
Main Roads.

Delegates run their own meetings 
with the Department of Transport 
Executive and have led the 
response to the planned merger 
of some Directorates with the 
Government Department, 
Main Roads.
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The Member Support model aims to equip and empower members and delegates to be able advocates; 
participate in union campaigns, actions and events; and access effective advice and assistance. In doing so, it 
seeks to deliver a strong individual member union experience and foster an educated and empowered union 
culture. Multiple staff teams, including Communications and Engagement, Growth, Member Support (now part of 
Capacity Building), Unionlink and the Industrial Services Group contribute to the operation of this model.

Ambition: All members 
receive annual pay 
increases through 
collective bargaining.

Ambition: Where EDCs 
and JCCs are already 
established in member 
support areas, 100% are 
run by delegates by 2022.

Ambition: 20% of delegates 
demonstrate they have 
taken the first steps prior 
to contacting the union in 
order to resolve issues at 
the workplace.

The Public Sector CSA General 
Agreement 2021 was registered 
in the WA Industrial Relations 
Commission on 24 September 
2021, with the registration of the 
related “satellite” agreements 
following over subsequent months. 
The new agreements delivered a 
$1000 pay increase, backdated 
to 13 June 2021, and improved 
provisions including a new 
conversion to permanency clause 
for employees on fixed term and 
casual contracts.

Staff and delegates collaborated 
to establish new tools, templates 
and mechanisms to support 
delegates to respond to rapidly 
evolving sector-wide and agency-
specific responses to the COVID-19 
pandemic, particularly relating to 
vaccine mandates and business 
continuity planning.

These included:
• Standard JCC questions for 

delegates to pose to employers 
regarding their COVID-19 
measures;

• Anonymised examples of 
employer best practice, for 
example, in business continuity 
planning; and 

• Special joint EDCs for 
delegates to share 
experiences.

Two special joint EDCs aimed at 
empowering delegates to take 
action on COVID-related work health 
and safety (WHS) issues were held 
in March 2022. The content was 
co-designed with, and primarily 
delivered by, a leader delegate. 
The two special joint EDCs were 
open to all delegates in Member 
Support agencies. Thirty delegates 
and two non-delegate OSH/WHS 
representatives participated.

Delegates from agencies operating 
under the Member Support model 
contribute to and draw from 
an ever-growing peer support 
network that shares experiences, 
knowledge and delegate-created 
resources. The network utilises a 
Delegates Chat WhatsApp group, 
which now has over 50 delegates 
providing direct support and 
advice to each other.

Member Support
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Internally, the team continues to provide delegate development and support, including coaching and skill-building, 
sharing best practices and peer-to-peer support. The team also concluded the Broadcast Email and Delegates 
Brand pilots. The final policy and supporting materials were endorsed by Council in March 2022 and will be rolled 
out throughout 2022-2023.

Ambition: 15% of members 
participate in broader 
union campaigns by the 
end of 2022.

Ambition: 80% of members are satisfied with the 
assistance received in resolving individual matters.

Your Union Agreement campaign 
paid union meetings (PUMs) 
attracted strong member 
participation from agencies 
operating under the Member 
Support model, with 218 
participants in the second half of 
2021 and 652 participants in the 
first half of 2022.

Assistance in resolving individual 
matters is overwhelmingly 
provided by the CPSU/CSA’s 
Unionlink team, which provides 
individual industrial advice to 
members via telephone and 
email communication.

In the 2021-22 financial year, 
Unionlink:

• Provided advice to members 
under the Western Australian 
state industrial relations 
system and the national 
workplace relations system, 
interpreted over 30 different 
workplace agreements to 
ensure member entitlements, 
and gave practical advice 
on resolving workplace 
complaints and disputes.

• Was instrumental in 
interpreting GSLR circulars 
and Government advice on 
COVID-19, and facilitated the 
development of COVID FAQs 
for the CPSU/CSA website.

• Received a high volume of 
COVID-19 related calls and 
emails. The service was 
particularly busy in the month 
of November 2021, with over 
797 calls taken.

• Assisted and advocated on 
matters including:

 ○ Disputes regarding 
Award or Agreement 
entitlements

 ○ Workplace Health 
and Safety

 ○ Maternity and Other 
Parent Leave provisions

 ○ Bullying and grievances
 ○ Workload
 ○ Fitness for work and 
health matters

 ○ Employment and 
recruitment

 ○ Conversion to 
permanency

Unionlink also assesses and refers 
matters requiring more intensive 
assistance to the CPSU/CSA’s 
Industrial Services Group for 
direct member representation 
and advocacy.



Capacity 
Building
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The CPSU/CSA’s Strategic Plan seeks to develop delegates to be active member leaders who foster a 
winning, growing, embedded union culture in their workplaces. Although multiple staff teams contribute to the 
achievement of our Capacity Building ambitions, the work has largely been the responsibility of the Learning and 
Development (L&D) team. In March 2022, the Member Support Organiser, Peer Support Officer and L&D Team 
were joined to form a new Capacity Building team. The Team’s new structure better coordinates the Union’s 
diverse delegate development delivery modes, which include coaching and skill-building, peer-to-peer support 
and structured training courses. 

Capacity Building

Ambition: Develop a CPSU/
CSA delegate training and 
development program 
that reflects the Union’s 
strategic plan by 
April 2020.

Ambition: Delegates in 
regional areas access 
training at the same 
rates as their metro 
counterparts by 2022.

Ambition: 95% of delegates 
to have participated in a 
delegate training course 
or other development 
program by 2022.

This financial year, the CPSU/CSA 
introduced two new Advanced 
Delegates courses on Consultation 
and Strategy and Campaigning, 
as well as introductory training on 
the new Work Health Safety Act 
in collaboration with UnionsWA. 
These new offerings build on the 
revitalised Delegates Introductory 
Training that was rolled out in 
2020-21.

The Delegates’ Introductory 
Training was delivered online for 
the first time in September 2021. 
This now means that any delegate 
can participate, regardless of their 
geographic location. 

Delcon22 was also delivered 
entirely online in 2022 in response 
to the outbreak of COVID-19 in 
Western Australia. Again, this 
facilitated greater equity of access 
to this development opportunity 
for regional delegates.

109 delegates attended the 
new Delegates’ Introductory 
Training and 12 participated in the 
Advanced Delegates Courses in 
the 2021-22 financial year.



902020 Annual report

Political



902020 Annual report - 19 -political

The Western Australian State Government plays a key role in the working lives of CPSU/CSA members. 
It is therefore unsurprising that the achievement of a considerable number of the CPSU/CSA’s strategic 
plan ambitions are, in part or in full, tied to political decision making. Political and community stakeholder 
engagement is therefore a critical area of work for the Union. Multiple staff teams contribute to the achievement 
of our Political strategic plan ambitions, including Communications and Engagement, Breakthrough, Delegate 
Led and the Industrial Services Group.

Ambition: Win anti-
bullying regime in WA 
jurisdiction; and 
Secure adverse 
action regime in the 
WAIRC jurisdiction.

Ambition: Ensure a review of the Public Sector 
Management Act enables an empowered worker 
voice, and removes distinction between public 
servants and government officers.

In 2022 changes to state 
employment laws were introduced 
by the Industrial Relations 
Legislation Amendment Act 
2021. The majority of changes 
commenced on 20 June 2022, 
including:

• New stop bullying and sexual 
harassment provisions

• These provisions enable an 
application to be made to the 
WAIRC by either a worker, 
or a union in relation to a 
member, for a stop bullying or 
sexual harassment order; and

• New protections against 
“damaging action”.

These protections enable an 
employee to seek a civil penalty 
and relief in the Industrial 
Magistrates Court if their employer 
has taken “damaging action” 
against them because they have 
made (or propose to make) an 
employment-related inquiry 
or complaint. 

These strategic plan ambitions are 
therefore achieved.

In the lead up to the 2021 WA State 
Election, WA Labor committed 
to a review of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. 
The CPSU/CSA met with 
representatives of political 
government in November 2021 to 
highlight the Union’s priorities for 
reform ahead of any review of the 
Act, and continued discussions 
into early 2022.

The CPSU/CSA’s priorities for 
reform of the Act include:

• Establishing one Code of 
Conduct for the sector;

• Removing potential 
impediments to permanency;

• Ensuring consistency in the 
application of Public Sector 
Standards and responses to 
breach claims, and enabling 
decisions made about a 
breach appealable to 
the WAIRC;

• Broadening access to 
the WAIRC; 

• Creating consistent 
disciplinary process 
and actions;

• Preventing the misuse of 
retirement on grounds of ill 
health; and

• Ensuring continuity of 
industrial rights and 
protections for employees 
affected by machinery of 
government changes.

More substantial discussions 
commenced with the Public Sector 
Commission in June 2022.

Political
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Ambition: No further 
forced redundancies 
are implemented by the 
McGowan government.

Ambition: 85% of CPSU/
CSA covered public sector 
workforce is in permanent 
employment.

In July 2021, the Public Sector 
Commission commenced a 
Review of Part 6 of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994 
which deals with redeployment 
and redundancy of public sector 
employees.

The CPSU/CSA made a 
submission to the Review in 
August 2021, and took up the 
invitation to be a member of the 
Review Advisory Group, which was 
first convened on 30 September 
2021. Since late 2021, the 
CPSU/CSA and the PSC have met 
on several occasions to exchange 
thoughts on what a model 
redeployment and redundancy 
process should look like. As at 30 
June 2022 this was ongoing.

On 3 June 2022, the Public Sector Commission released its report: 
Review into Commissioner’s Instruction 23: Conversion and Appointment 
of Fixed Term Contract and Casual Employees to Permanency.

On the basis of figures reported by 67 public sector agencies from the 
commencement of CI:23 on 10 August 2018 up until 31 March 2022, 
the PSC found that:

• 47,254 fixed term contract and casual arrangements were reviewed. 
• 15,496 employees made permanent

 ○ 5364 under CI:23
 ○ 274 under CI:22
 ○ 9858 under CI:2

Whilst many public sector employees benefited from this initiative, it has 
not had the desired effect of significantly increasing the percentage of the 
public sector workforce engaged on a permanent basis (76.9% of public 
sector FTE according to the most recently released State of the WA Public 
Sector Workforce Report). 

However, in the 2021-22 financial year, the CPSU/CSA secured new 
conversion to permanency clauses in the Public Sector CSA Agreement 
2021 and associated “satellite” agreements. This provides an ongoing 
mechanism by which the Union and workers may address the 
inappropriate use of insecure employment.

Ambition: 2000 CPSU/
CSA covered fixed term 
and casual employees are 
converted to permanent by 
December 2022.
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• Secure an improved wages policy that facilitates 
outcomes exceeding Perth CPI.

• At least one significant whole of union collective 
action on a sector-wide issue requiring political 
action to win.

Public Sector Alliance
The 12-month term of the Public Sector CSA 
Agreement 2021 and “associated satellite 
agreements” aligned the CPSU/CSA’s bargaining 
cycles with those of other powerful public sector 
unions and positioned us to formalise a Public Sector 
Alliance committed to campaigning together for 
better pay outcomes in 2022.

The Public Sector Alliance launched late in the 
2020-21 financial year. In addition to the CPSU/CSA, 
Alliance partners include: the United Workers Union; 
Health Services Union of WA; State School Teachers’ 
Union of WA; Rail Tram and Bus Union; United 
Firefighters Union; Professionals Australia; WA Prison 
Officers Union; WA Police Union.

Work coordinated through the Alliance early in the 
2021-22 financial year included:

• A petition to change the Government’s then 
wages policy of $1000 per annum pro rata 
pay increases, which garnered thousands of 
signatures;

• An organised approach to established forums 
between the WA union movement and the 
McGowan Government; and

• Securing meetings with WA Labor MPs to 
discuss the need to change the Wages Policy.

Government Wages 
Policy Review
On 9 September 2021, Premier Mark McGowan 
handed down his first WA State Budget as Treasurer. 
The CPSU/CSA welcomed the accompanying 
announcement, just three months after the launch 
of the Alliance, that the Government would end its 
$1000 wage rise cap and bring forward a review of 
Government wages policy.

The Government Wages Policy Review commenced 
on 15 September 2021 and concluded on 25 October. 
The CPSU/CSA made both in-person and written 
submissions to the Review. Chief amongst the 
CPSU/CSA’s submission recommendations was 
that “The WA Public Sector bargaining framework 
should provide for minimum salary increases to each 
employee of 4% or $2500, whichever results in the 
higher floor.” This position was shared and jointly 
advocated for by all Public Sector Alliance union 
partners.

Member engagement and activism ran alongside the 
formal proceedings of the Review. Member feedback 
informed submission contributions, delegate-led paid 
union meetings attracted hundreds of attendees, and 
CPSU/CSA delegate and activist participation in a 12 
November Public Sector Alliance Town Hall Meeting 
exceeded our targets for turnout. The latter event 
was significant in that it received considerable media 
attention and assisted the Alliance to build pressure 
as Premier/Treasurer Mark McGowan and then-
Minister for Industrial Relations Stephen Dawson 
deliberated on the submissions to the Government 
Wages Policy Review.

Public Sector Pay

https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/cpsucsa/pages/284/attachments/original/1636683889/WA_State_Government_Wages_Policy_Review_CPSU_CSA_Submission.pdf?1636683889
https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/cpsucsa/pages/284/attachments/original/1636683889/WA_State_Government_Wages_Policy_Review_CPSU_CSA_Submission.pdf?1636683889
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A Shift on Wages Policy
On Thursday 16 December 2021, Premier Mark 
McGowan delivered his first Mid-Year Budget Review 
in his capacity as Treasurer of Western Australia, 
during which he announced a new Government 
wages policy:

The new wages policy provides public sector unions 
with a choice, by industrial agreement, of a two-year 
setting that offers above-CPI wage increases 
of either:

The announcement fell short of the position 
advocated for in our submission to the Government 
Wages Policy Review, but did at the time represent a 
significant shift in the Government’s position, secured 
only through the collective power of WA public sector 
unions and their members.

The Public Sector Wages Policy Statement 2022 and 
accompanying Public Sector Bargaining Framework, 
which gave structure and substance to the 
announcement, were finally issued by Government 
Sector Labour Relations (GSLR) almost two months 
later on 11 February 2022.

a 2.5% wage increase 
per annum, with a 

$1,000 sign-on bonus in 
the first year; or

Option 1: Option 2:

a 2.5% wage increase per 
annum, with an additional 

0.25% per annum for 
negotiated workforce 

reform measures.” ¹

Your Union Agreement 2022
Bargaining for the replacements for Public Sector 
CSA Agreement 2021 and associated satellite 
agreements commenced on 15 February 2022. 
Our log of claims, which actively prioritises securing 
better pay outcomes in this round of bargaining and 
limits conditions claims to maintain this focus, was 
developed based on:

• Cumulative member feedback gathered by 
means including, but not limited to, the Your 
Union Agreement inbox.

• A survey of 2,755 members conducted in June 
2021 identifying pay as a priority issue on which 
a substantial proportion of members would be 
willing to take industrial action to achieve 
better outcomes.

• A survey of 3,276 members conducted in 
January and February 2022 which identified four 
distinct widely and deeply felt conditions claims.

• A workshop of union staff to identify and 
prioritise claims to build our Union’s power to win 
for members.

The claim, summarised below, was recommended by 
a vote of delegates at the 2022 Delegates Convention, 
endorsed by the CSA Council on 23 February 2022 
and submitted to GSLR on 28 February 2022.

1. Source: 2021/22 Government Mid-year 
Financial Projections Statement, Page 
13.

https://www.wa.gov.au/system/files/2021-12/2021-22-government-mid-year-financial-projections-statements.pdf?mc_cid=bb3cb9a463&mc_eid=611033d0b4
https://www.wa.gov.au/system/files/2021-12/2021-22-government-mid-year-financial-projections-statements.pdf?mc_cid=bb3cb9a463&mc_eid=611033d0b4
https://www.wa.gov.au/system/files/2021-12/2021-22-government-mid-year-financial-projections-statements.pdf?mc_cid=bb3cb9a463&mc_eid=611033d0b4


- 24 - annual report

Your Union Agreement 
2022 – Claim Summary

2. Conditions

1. United on Pay

• 4% p.a. OR Perth CPI +0.75% in the first year 
and +0.5% in each subsequent year of the 
agreement, whichever is greater.

Infectious Diseases 
Leave

3. Power to Win

• Increase Paid Union Meetings from 2 to 4 per 
calendar year.

• Improve information provided upon notification 
of new employees.

The pay claim reflects both the position we 
advocated for in the Government Wages Policy 
Review and the need to account for an emerging 
upwards trend in the cost of living, which continued 
in the months that followed. See Figure 1.

Personal Leave 
(Additional Days 

for Mental Health)

Working From Home

Right to Disconnect
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public sector pay

First Offer Rejected
We received the first offer from the Government for 
Your Union Agreement on Tuesday 7 June 2022, 
just four working days before the expiry of the 2021 
Agreements. The offer did not provide pay increases 
that keep up with the cost of living, sought trade-
offs, and rejected or proposed inadequate clauses in 
response to our conditions claims.

More than 600 members turned out at short notice 
to a snap mass members meeting on Tuesday 14 
June 2022 and unequivocally recommended that 
this insulting offer be rejected. CPSU/CSA Council 
supported this recommendation, voting unanimously 
to reject the offer on 24 June 2022.

Wages Campaigning 
Continues
Throughout the first half of 2022, skyrocketing 
cost of living pressures and deepening attraction 
and retention concerns drove the CPSU/CSA and 
other Public Sector Alliance partners to seek further 
improvements to the Government Wages Policy. 
Alliance unions have reinforced representations to 
administrative and political government with the 
commencement of member campaign action and 
persistent strong media commentary. Between the 
beginning of April and the end of June 2022, 
CPSU/CSA members participated in the following 
campaign activities:

• Paid Union Meetings in workplaces, attracting 
1,352 workers;

• Member-led workplace actions ranging from 
taking photos with placards for social media, 
to adding campaign imagery to their email 
signatures, to wearing red in the workplace;

• Public Sector Alliance Poster Action engaging 
the support of local businesses;

• Participation in the Public Sector Alliance “Joint 
Bargaining Meeting” action at Solidarity Park.

As at the end of the 2021-22 financial year, the Public 
Sector Alliance planned to escalate their campaign 
action in pursuit of genuine bargaining and better 
pay outcomes.

Figure 1.
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The CPSU/CSA’s Industrial strategic plan ambitions seek to reduce the workload burden arising from an 
unnecessarily large volume of industrial instruments in order to enable the allocation of greater resources to 
building power, strengthening worker voice and winning good jobs.

Ambition: Secure delegate 
advocacy rights on behalf 
of members in all  
CSA Awards.

Ambition: Insert position 
descriptors into 5 
CSA awards.

Ambition: Insert clause in 
all CSA awards for union 
access to broadcast emails.

Ambition: Secure one code of conduct across the public 
sector; and Win changes to PSMA and IR Act to permit 
WAIRC to hear appeals regarding of public 
sector standards.

Ambition: Reduce the 
total number of industrial 
instruments to which we 
are party by 50%.

Following the big win that was 
achieved in the last financial year, 
where clause 36A was inserted 
into our Awards to expressly 
recognise that Union officials, 
Councillors, Union employees 
and Delegates are legitimate 
representatives of individual 
members, we sought to enforce 
this clause. Currently, we have 
two cases before the Industrial 
Magistrates Court which allege 
that the Department of Justice and 
the Department of Communities 
have on particular occasions 
breached this clause. These cases 
will be heard later this year and 
will give us an indication of the 
strength of this clause.

Currently, the focus for improving 
job evaluation and reclassification 
processes is to conclude the 
unfinished business for specified 
callings, which includes providing 
an updated Classification Manual. 

Following the achievement of 
this ambition by the Industrial 
Services Group in the 2020-21 
financial year, the Capacity Building 
team undertook work to support 
delegates their newly enhanced 
rights. Broadcast Email and 
Delegates Brand pilots have now 
concluded, and the final policy 
and supporting materials were 
endorsed by Council in March 2022 
and will be rolled out throughout 
2022-2023.

Establishing one Code of 
Conduct for the sector, ensuring 
consistency in the application 
of Public Sector Standards and 
responses to breach claims, and 
enabling decisions made about 
a breach to be appealed to 
the WAIRC are amongst the 
CPSU/CSA’s priorities for reform of 
the Public Sector Management Act 
1994. Substantial discussion of 
these priorities commenced with 
the Public Sector Commission in 
June 2022.

A draft strategy has been devised 
to amalgamate several Awards 
and General Agreements, and is 
likely to progress at the conclusion 
of the current bargaining round for 
the replacement Public Sector CSA 
Agreement and related satellites.

Industrial
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Establishing sound systems to support our Union’s work is critical to ensuring we are able to use our financial 
and human resources effectively and efficiently. Under our strategic plan, identifying and adopting technology 
and processes that enable us to work faster, smarter and better is a key area of focus.

Governance and Policy
The following policies have been ratified by Council during the 2021-2022 financial year, following drafting by 
CPSU/CSA staff project teams and feedback from staff delegates, the Strategic Planning and Organisational 
Development group (SPOD), Executive and Council:

An important component of the internal Governance (Systems) work area for 2021-2022 involved the 
organisation’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, through the formation of the internal Covid Response Team 
(CRT) chaired by the Branch Assistant Secretary and including staff representatives across multiple work areas:

CPSU/CSA 
Procurement Policy

Covid Response 
Team (CRT)

CPSU/CSA 
Delegates Brand 
and Broadcast 
Emails Policy

Expected employee 
behaviour and 
procedures to 
support best practice 
in procurement, 
tendering and contract 
management. Arising 
out of the Contracts & 
Procurement Sprint in 
the Systems work area.

Managing the 
organisation’s response 
to COVID, for the purpose 
of ensuring business 
continuity and mitigating 
risks to employees.

Scope Internal or external-facing Date ratified by Council

Scope Key functions Status

Procedure for 
accessing and utilising 
Delegates’ brand for 
communications with 
members, and rights and 
responsibilities regarding 
issuing broadcast emails.

Internal (staff)

Risk assessment and 
maintenance of risk 
register; business 
continuity planning; 
drafting and issuing 
Staffing Instructions; 
remote work capability.

External-facing 
(CPSU/CSA Delegates)

27/04/2022

Active 10 December 
2021 – ongoing

23/03/2022

Systems
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iMIS Upgrade and Member Portal Development
Following the upgrade of our iMIS member records 
system and payment module in 2021, work continues 
on refining processes and automations available 
within the system to enable faster and more accurate 
processing of member records. This has involved 
extensive process reviews of many elements of the 
record-keeping processes of the union and is ongoing.

Predominantly automated payment processing 
has led to a reduction in staff hours for processing 
fortnightly and monthly payments. Automated 
system emails letting members know when a 
payment has been unsuccessful has so far led to 
a slight reduction in the overall number of declined 
payments each run, as well as enhancing the 
member experience and reducing the number 
of members falling into arrears. Additionally, 
dashboards and customisable queries enable access 
to see payment status more thoroughly, so that the 
Database team can catch and handle exceptions in a 
timely manner. Payments have been the first priority 
of the project, as they are critical both to the running 
of the CPSU/CSA but also to the member experience. 

Member portal work and a new fully integrated, 
instant join form are in train; however, the launch of 
these new features is also dependent on server load 
capacity and internal IT systems, currently under 
review. It is anticipated that the September quarter 
2022 will see the new join form launched, with a 
member portal shortly thereafter. 
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December 
2021

February 
2022

March
2022

November 
2021

September
2021

October
2021

Delegate End of the Year Party Delcon 22 DCP Walkout

Public Sector Mass Alliance 
members’ meeting

National Child Protection Week YUA Halloween

Esme’s Terrace, Level 6 CSA Centre.

Perth Town Hall, Perth.Armadale District Office, 
Cannington District Office, 
Peel District Office and Perth 
District Office.

Parliament House, West Perth.

Online via Zoom. Joondalup House, Joondalup.

2021-22 Event Highlights
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June
2022

August
2022

July
2022

CPFS Bunbury Action PSA – HSU and UWU action 1YUA Mass Members Briefing

Public Sector Wages Rally

Public Sector Alliance meeting

Education, Health and North 
Metro TAFE action

CPFS Bunbury stop 
work walkout

Regional stop work actions PSA – HSU and UWU action 2

Electorate Office, Bunbury. QEII Medical Centre, Nedlands.Online via Microsoft Teams.

Parliament House, West Perth.

Solidarity Park, West Perth.

Department of Education, East Perth. Department Of Communities 
– Child Protection, Bunbury.

Bunbury Hospital and Geraldton 
Regional Hospital.

Royal Perth Hospital, Perth.

event highlights



- 34 - annual report



CPSU/CSA 
Officer 

Movement 
Report

Report prepared by: 
CPSU/CSA 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Office Holder Movement 
1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022 

 
 
Branch Officers 
Rikki Hendon   Branch Secretary Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Melanie Bray Branch Assistant Secretary Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Branch President  Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
John Lamb Branch Treasurer Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Becky Anderson Vice President Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Lewis Stevens Vice President Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 
 

  

Councillors  
Communities Graham Thompson Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Rod Schoneveld Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Anette Bohm Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 John Hughes Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Dental Health and Health Services Tracy Martin Term Elected: 1st 

March 2021 
Resigned: 30th 
July 2022 

Education Charlie Brown Elected: 1st March 2021 
Higher, Further & Technical Education Janet Collings Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Justice Ursula Konig Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Kurt Mayerhofer Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Mines Industry Regulation and Safety Bethany Conway Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Alana Herbert Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Policy, Administration & Recreation Jeremy Mowe Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Primary Industries & Regional 
Development 

Phil Goulding Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

Schools and Regional Offices Denise Henden Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Water, Environment & Conservation Leanne Reid Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Western Australian Police & 
Emergency Services 

Sam Rees Term Elected: 1st 
March 2021 

Resigned: 28th 
March 2022 

 Mel Hirjee Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
   
   
Proxy Councillors  
Communities   
Policy & Administration Dennis Liddelow Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Western Australian Police & 
Emergency Services 

Nikki Theil-Harkin  Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

 Phil Trainer Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Finance, Lands and Heritage Patrick Boyd Term Elected: 1st 

March 2021 
Resigned: 29th 
August 2022 

 



 

 
CPSU SPSF Group Branch Delegate to Federal Council 
Rikki Hendon Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Denise Henden Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Melanie Bray Term Elected: 21st April 2021 

 
 
CPSU SPSF Group Executive Committee 
Denise Henden Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Lewis Stevens Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Leanne Reid Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Jeremy Mowe Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Rod Schoneveld Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Anette Bohm Term Elected: 21st April 2021 

 

 

 

Federal Vice President  
Rikki Hendon   Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

Branch Representative to Federal Executive  
Matthew Abrahamson Term Elected: 20th March 2021 
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